

Not for citation or dissemination

Working Group on Developing WHO Guidance on Clinical Ethics

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction and background	6
1.1. Introduction	6
1.2. Scope and target audience	7
1.3. Background	8
1.4. Guidance structure	10
References:	11
Chapter 2: Education and strengthening competence in clinical ethics	12
2.1. The importance of teaching and strengthening competence in clinical ethics	12
2.2. What should be taught? Learning objectives in clinical ethics	13
2.3. Who should be taught, and when?	16
2.3.1. Undergraduate teaching	16
2.3.2. Continuous professional development	
2.3.3. Postgraduate teaching	
2.3.4. Clinical ethics committee (CEC) members	
2.3.5. Clinical ethicists	
2.3.7 International medical education, clinical electives and specialized training abroad	
2.4. How can the teaching be done?	
2.4.1. Pedagogical considerations	
2.4.2. Teaching methods and materials	28
References:	30
Chapter 3: Clinical ethics consultation services	36
3.1 Clinical ethics consultation structures	36
3.1.1. Clinical ethics committee	
3.1.2. Ethics consultation team	37
3.1.3. Individual clinical ethics consultants	
3.1.4. Remote ethics consultation	
3.1.5. Implicit and informal clinical ethics	
3.2. Clinical ethics competence	
3.3. Methods of clinical consultation and support	39
3.4. Proactive approaches in clinical ethics support	40
3.5. Specialized Ethics Consultation Services	
3.5.1. Paediatric ethics consultation services	
3.5.2 Psychiatric ethics consultation services	/11

3.5.3. Persons without Proxy (PwP) Committees	42
3.6. Advantages and disadvantages of common clinical ethics structures	42
3.6.2. Ethics consultation team	43
3.6.4. Remote ethics consultation	
3.7. Contextual challenges and impediments to establishing ethics services	
References:	48
Chapter 4: Clinical ethics policy creation and review at healthcare institutions	51
4.1. Establishing a clinical ethics committee	51
4.2. Preparing a policy "Census"	53
4.3. Drafting ethics policies	53
4.4. Policy review	54
4.5. Public availability and transparency	55
4.6. Compliance and liability	55
References:	56
Chapter F. National (state level policy making and governonce for clinical othics	5 7
Chapter 5: National/state-level policy making and governance for clinical ethics	
5.1. Supervening clinical ethics standards	
5.2. High-level policymaking for clinical ethics	59
5.3. Monitoring and oversight of clinical ethics	
References	64
Chapter 6: Global cooperation and coordination	66
6.1. Introduction	66
6.2. Examples of areas for global cooperation and governance	68
6.2.1. Organ transplantation	
6.2.2. Health emergencies in large populations	
6.2.3. Medical travel	
6.3. Mechanisms for global coordination and governance	72
References	75

Background and goals of the Public Consultation:



Over the past decade, clinical ethics has gained increasing prominence within the broader field of global health ethics. The COVID-19 pandemic, in particular, has highlighted numerous clinical ethics challenges, ranging from resource allocation at the bedside to the provision of unproven therapies. Although the World Health Organization (WHO) has occasionally addressed specific clinical ethics issues through its ethics guidance, there remains a lack of comprehensive, general WHO guidance on clinical ethics and its governance. The need for such a document has been repeatedly expressed by WHO Member States, technical departments, and the Global Network of WHO Collaborating Centers for Bioethics.

This initiative is intended to provide comprehensive, context-sensitive ethical guidance to support healthcare decision-making globally and to assist a wide range of stakeholders. These include Member States and health policymakers, WHO technical departments, healthcare workers (including both medical professionals and non-professional health personnel), health facility administrators, international and national professional medical organizations (such as medical councils and professional associations), healthcare workers' unions, ethics oversight agencies, related UN agencies, the medical education sector, non-governmental and civil society organizations (including patients' rights advocacy groups), and other relevant entities.

To develop this draft guidance, WHO has consulted with an internal steering committee, the Global Network of WHO Collaborating Centers for Bioethics, and participants of several relevant events, including the International Conference on Clinical Ethics and Consultation (ICCEC-2023), the World Congress of Bioethics (WCB-2024), and the Australian Association of Bioethics and Health Law Conference (AABHL-2024). An international expert group was formed in 2023, with members representing all WHO regions. In addition to the independent experts on the committee, representatives from observer organizations—including the World Medical Association, the International Council of Nurses, and the World Patient Alliance—have been invited to participate in the working group. The group has convened regularly on a monthly basis to discuss the development of the work, under the coordination of the Health Ethics and Governance Unit at WHO headquarters in Geneva.

To ensure transparency, inclusiveness, and relevance across diverse global contexts, WHO is launching this public consultation on the draft guidance to gather feedback from a wide range of stakeholders. This public consultation aims to make the development of the WHO Clinical Ethics Guidance a participatory and inclusive process. By leveraging digital tools for structured input, WHO seeks to refine the draft into a robust, context-sensitive, and globally applicable resource to support ethical decision-making in healthcare.

The online public consultation will remain open until 11:59 PM on Monday, 30 June 2025 (Central European Time, GMT/UTC +1). Please note that this is an unedited and unformatted draft, shared solely for consultation purposes and not for citation. The final version will undergo full language editing prior to publication. Respondents are kindly requested not to comment on language unless

a term is perceived to carry substantive ethical, technical, or cultural significance. All feedback will be reviewed with care and held in strict confidence by WHO; it will not be shared with third parties and will be used exclusively to inform the development of this guidance on Clinical Ethics and related outputs. A summary of the key themes and feedback, along with anonymized demographic and stakeholder group representation, may be published on the WHO website. Finally, please note that the final version of the guidance will be completed and become more applicable by adding an executive summary and a recommendations section.

WHO Health Ethics and Governance Unit

Geneva



Chapter 1: Introduction and background



1.1. Introduction

A wide range of ethical challenges arise in clinical practice globally on a daily basis. Healthcare professionals and healthcare teams must make difficult decisions regularly:

- How should limited resources like intensive care beds or renal dialysis machines be fairly distributed?
- How could we achieve quality and cultural sensitivity for "breaking bad news"?
- When could ventilation of patients with a poor prognosis be discontinued?
- What should be done when a patient declines life-saving treatment?
- How much coercion can be used to treat patients with severe mental illness?
- How should we balance women's reproductive rights with concern for fetal wellbeing?

In addition to these challenges that typically arise in hospitals, many other ethical challenges in health care practice and are referred to as "microethics". These microethical issues might include therapeutic privilege to withhold a diagnosis in specific cases due to patient fragility or dealing with adverse events from the use of specific medication (Truog et al., 2015). How can we use (medical) language sensitively so that terminology and explanations for patients are understandable, non-discriminatory and empathetic as well as helpful and trustworthy? What are ethically appropriate ways to manage conflicts arising among family members, within the treatment team, or between health-care professionals and institutional policies? Who looks after the best interests of a patient who has compromised decision-making capacity? How do we confront the ethical challenges generated by the aging population? How can we respect the patient's hierarchy of values when the healthcare team does not share them?

These and other challenging questions that arise in healthcare need to be deliberated to reach the best outcomes for patients. In most parts of the world, healthcare professionals (HCPs) make these difficult decisions on their own or together with their healthcare teams. In other regions, clinical ethics committees, teams or consultants can assist in the decision-making process. While many diverse factors are taken into account in such decision-making, the practice of moral deliberation uses principles, virtues and a wide range of theories in bioethics.

Bioethics has variously been defined as a branch of applied Ethics that explores the intersections between philosophical, legal and social issues that arise in medicine and the biological sciences. Medical Ethics provides a broad set of moral notions, such as principles and virtues to guide medical practice. Use of these notions in decision-making in patient care occurs in the context of clinical ethics. Consequently, clinical ethics is regarded as a practical, sub-discipline of bioethics that provides a structured approach to assist HCPs and healthcare teams in identifying, analyzing, and potentially resolving ethical issues that arise in clinical practice (Singer et al., 2001). The goals include improving the quality of patient care, respecting patient dignity and responding to moral distress amongst HCPs. These are important goals if we wish to retain HCPs, improve health outcomes and reduce challenges in clinical environment and medical litigation.

In the last decade, clinical ethics has gained substantial prominence within the field of health care from a global perspective. In particular, the COVID-19 pandemic has raised many clinical ethics challenges, ranging from triage, rationing at the bedside and at all levels of care and caused moral distress amongst HCPs. While there is general WHO guidance on challenges in bioethics, there is no specific guidance on clinical ethics, clinical ethics consultation and support services. The need for such a document has been repeatedly expressed by various WHO Member States and technical departments and the Global Network of WHO Collaborating Centers for Bioethics. This WHO "Guidance on Clinical Ethics" is intended to fill this gap.

Clinical ethics challenges appear in different healthcare settings at primary, secondary and tertiary levels of care and impact on multiple stakeholders – interdisciplinary medical and clinical teams, policymakers, healthcare funders, patients, families and communities. Furthermore, given the complexity of healthcare, medicine and ethics in diverse settings, values may conflict in multicultural settings in different countries and across urban and rural contexts.

Conflict resolution strategies vary from informal or formal ethics consultation services to structured clinical ethics committees (CECs), hospital ethics committees or other types of healthcare ethics committees. The terminology associated with these committees varies from one country to the next. In many settings, in the absence of formal committees, healthcare practitioners and teams are required to make difficult decisions themselves. Even where formal committees exist, they may only have an advisory role, requiring healthcare teams to make final decisions and to implement such decisions. Consequently, and to promote prudent and reasonable decision-making, ethics education in healthcare is necessary at undergraduate and postgraduate health sciences institutions everywhere in the world. Because every decision in medicine and healthcare has an ethical component, the best outcome for each patient should be sought.

Although research ethics committees (RECs) or institutional review boards (IRBs) are well established globally, clinical ethics consultation services, clinical ethics committees tend to be less well established. The great techno-scientific development of medicine brings new questions. Moral pluralism requires that healthcare providers consider the different values and preferences of patients.

The over-specialization of medicine has the risk of generating fragmented patient care, sometimes forgetting that the patient is a person who suffers and experiences a disease or health condition. These problems are questions of healthcare ethics in every society, all hospitals, primary care and everyday practice.

This guidance of the World Health Organization is intended to raise awareness around clinical ethics, and it is hoped that it will be of value to all stakeholders involved in conflicts of clinical and healthcare ethics. National sovereignty is respected and there is a great deal of flexibility with which guidance could be implemented in different contexts taking local values, resource constraints and different healthcare systems into account.

1.2. Scope and target audience

The Seventy-seventh World Health Assembly resolution that promotes inclusive and sustained social participation in health decision-making processes, empowering people, communities, and civil society at all levels, is an example that underlines the significance of endorsing these new and important

role players (World Health Organization, 2024). Consequently, clinical ethics is required to consider interests, commitments, obligations, and rights of an increasing list of potential stakeholders and their complex relationships.

Considering the crucial role of governance in shaping systems for the implementation of ethical standards in the clinical environment and during the clinical encounter at the point of healthcare delivery, and the direction of recent ethics documents provided by WHO, governance has a central place in this document. It is discussed at institutional, national and international levels. Clinical ethics includes a wide range of specific – and often controversial – issues, such as abortion and euthanasia. Different countries will develop their own ethics and legal frameworks with respect to these important issues. Rather than offering substantive guidance on these specific topics, this document focuses on implementation and governance aspects of clinical ethics. Figure 1.1 shows the main target audience of this Guidance.



1.3. Background

The 'clinical relationship' or 'clinical encounter' which endorses a patient-professional direct interaction as the core element, distinguishes clinical ethics from public health ethics or research ethics. While in health-related research the main outcome is usually a contribution to generalizable knowledge to answer questions to promote health of other and future patients, in clinical practice the focus is treating individual patients to improve their health and well-being. Similarly, the distinction between clinical ethics and public health ethics as another domain of contemporary bioethics, is rooted in the individualistic orientation of clinical ethics versus the mostly community-oriented nature of public health ethics. Although it is challenging to define these domains clearly and distinctly, in a broad sense clinical ethics refers to the ethical issues related to providing health services to individual patients by HCPs in various clinical settings.

Such an objective and "face-to-face" approach to clinical ethics does not mean that such clinical relations happen in an isolated atmosphere in clinics or hospitals without being related to a broader

context and higher-level programs, plans, and policies. So, some writers define clinical ethics as a field between patients, HCPs, and health facility administrators (Lanoix, 2009). While, as some writers argue, the desired end of clinical ethics is "to improve the quality of patient care", by addressing ethical challenges (Singer et al., 2001), Fletcher and Brody's description of clinical ethics focuses on this field's concern about the "ethics of clinical practice" and with ethical questions while "caring for the patients" (Fletcher and Brody, 1995). Jonsen, Siegler, and Winslade explain that clinical ethics tries to identify, analyze, and resolve ethical issues around the "care of a particular patient", which are inseparable from the medical aspects of a patient's care (Jonsen et al., 2015).

WHO, based on expert consultation, defines clinical ethics as "a discipline that focuses on addressing value-based questions, challenges and disagreements that arise in patient care".

Box 1.1. WHO definition of clinical ethics

Ethical challenges in clinical encounters occur in a context of cultural, religious and geographic diversity across different tiers of healthcare systems, requiring nuanced communication skills and patient and family engagement. This process of decision-making and reflection, in which the best decision for each patient is sought, is influenced by several contextual factors and is shaped by many stake-holders inside and outside health systems. For example, while patients who need ICU beds have a direct relationship with their attending physicians, the decision of the physician depends on the availability of ICU beds, which in turn is a result of prior investment in health infrastructure, e.g., building and equipping such facilities. Another example is an organ transplantation surgeon whose relationship with patients who need transplantable organs is related to the laws and public policies that regulate organ procurement and allocation in society. Therefore, while deliberating about clinical ethics, it is not possible to limit ourselves to clinical face-to-face settings only where health services are provided for the recipients, but appropriate attention also needs to be paid to thinking about crucial underpinnings and infrastructures at the policymaking levels.

Clinical ethics has been evolving and changing in parallel with the development of medical care and services. Clinical settings have become increasingly complex. Extraordinary progressive development of medical science and related technologies, the right to healthcare, increasing specialization in medicine, dynamically changing disease patterns, global health threats such as global warming, antibiotic resistance, pandemics, global health inequity and infodemics have made medical practice challenging. These changes as well as changes in the socio-political domain have led to the transition from paternalism to patient-centered healthcare in many contexts. Such evolution in healthcare has magnified the importance of clinical ethics (Shamsi-Gooshki et al., 2020).

While other fields of bioethics are more recent, the history of research ethics dates to the 19th and 20th centuries, especially after the Second World War. Public health ethics started in the late 20th century while the history of clinical ethics could potentially be as old as the history of medicine. Concerns about the ethico-legal issues in medical practice can be traced to ancient texts such as the "Code of Hammurabi" from the 18th century B.C. (Laney, 2007). However, the most famous and influential document is the "Hippocratic Oath" of the 5th century B.C (Edelstein, 1943). By 1948, the World Medical Association published the Declaration of Geneva which builds on the principles of the Hippocratic Oath(World Medical Association, 1948).

Box 1.2. Examples of historical document related to clinical ethics

Despite the claims that limit the history of clinical ethics mostly to the second half of the 20th century, when a separate service for providing ethics consultation to health professionals was start-

ed(Siegler, 2019), such an approach does not provide a fairly inclusive picture of a discipline rooted deeply in the history of medicine. This may dismiss the role of historical medical ethics documents and philosophical deliberation in establishing a modern version of medical ethics since the 18th century to date (Veatch, 2000). Early in the 1920s the term "bioethics" was first used and then resurfaced in the 1970s(Frewer, 2000; Muzur and Sass, 2012; Reich, 1994), While some scholars consider the birth of bioethics as a "replacement" for the "old thinking in medical ethics" (Koch, 2014), it seems that using or inventing a new term to cover the expanded field for bioethics was inevitable.

The clinical ethics discourse could be discussed around the concept of relationship since most ethical standards of clinical practice are a set of guiding norms and values that provide the necessary ground to facilitate establishing efficient, respectful, ethical and professional relations among different stakeholders, mainly HCPs on one hand and patients or health care recipients on the other hand. Issues such as confidentiality, respect for patients, their choices, and their privacy are among the most important and widely debated issues of clinical relationships. In such relations, each side has responsibilities, obligations as well as rights that should be respected.

Culture is a generic, dynamic, and complex concept that is informed by multiple and diverse factors. Healthcare delivery in any context requires familiarity with important cultural aspects of the community, which is sometimes known as cultural competency(Erkkilä et al., 2023; Paasche-Orlow, 2004). Usually, those HCPs who have been trained or who have practised in a particular cultural context, are familiar with different aspects of that community culture. However, those HCPs who start working in a new society or community with different cultural indicators, need to familiarise themselves with essential aspects of that culture, especially cultural sensitivities. Situations such as the migration of medical professionals to other countries or areas with different cultural contexts in the same country or mobilisation of HCPs during a health emergency are among situations that should receive special notice in this regard.

1.4. Guidance structure

This guidance, in its first chapter, provides a background for clinical ethics and its evolution to give the audience a better understanding of the context and scope of clinical ethics. Given that all member states may not have formal clinical ethics consultation services, ethics education for health science students and practitioners is a core requirement. However, where possible, clinical ethics consultation and support services at all levels of healthcare provision are encouraged. Such services have three core functions that are elaborated in chapters two to five—capacity development and education, clinical ethics consultation and policy development. In the second chapter, key issues of clinical ethics education, patient engagement and capacity-building are discussed. In the third chapter, the work of clinical ethics consultation services including CECs and clinical ethics consultants will be explored. Chapter four's main theme is policy development and review for clinical ethics in healthcare institutions. Chapter five is more focused on national/state-level governance and policy development for clinical ethics aiming at promoting ethical practice in healthcare delivery. In chapter six, international aspects and possibilities for coordination and co-operation concerning clinical ethics and its governance are discussed. Chapter seven [will be added to this draft version after the public consultation) provides recommendations for various stakeholders, including Ministries of Health in WHO Member States, to guide better governance and implementation of ethical standards in the clinical environment and point of healthcare delivery. It is hoped that this guideline will be of value to all stakeholders who are committed to improving the quality of healthcare offered to the public. Responding to moral distress of healthcare teams, patients and families by improving access to support and consultation services is an important goal of healthcare provision.

References:

Edelstein, L., 1943. The Hippocratic oath, text, translation and interpretation. Baltimore, The Johns Hopkins Press.

Erkkilä, P., Koskenranta, M., Kuivila, H., Oikarainen, A., Kamau, S., Kaarlela, V., Immonen, K., Koskimäki, M., Mikkonen, K., 2023. Ethical and cultural competence of social-and health care educators from educational institutions—Cross-sectional study. Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences 37, 642—653.

Fletcher, J.C., Brody, H., 1995. Clinical ethics: I. Elements and methodologies.

Frewer, A., 2000. Medizin und Moral in Weimarer Republik und Nationalsozialismus: die Zeitschrift" Ethik" unter Emil Abderhalden. Campus Verlag.

Jonsen, A., Siegler, M., Winslade, W., 2015. Medical indications. Clinical Ethics: A Practical Approach to Ethical Decisions in Clinical Medicine, 8e. New York: McGraw-Hill Education.

Koch, T., 2014. The Hippocratic thorn in bioethics' hide: Cults, sects, and strangeness. Journal of Medicine and Philosophy 39, 75–88.

Laney, D., 2007. Biomedical Ethics. Greenhaven, Farmington Hills, MI.

Lanoix, M., 2009. Understanding the scope of clinical ethics. The American Journal of Bioethics 9, 45–46.

Muzur, A., Sass, H.-M., 2012. Fritz Jahr and the foundations of global bioethics: the future of integrative bioethics. LIT Verlag Münster.

Paasche-Orlow, M., 2004. The ethics of cultural competence. Academic Medicine 79, 347–350.

Reich, W.T., 1994. The word" bioethics": its birth and the legacies of those who shaped it. Kennedy institute of ethics Journal 4, 319–335.

Shamsi-Gooshki, E., Parsapoor, A., Asghari, F., Parsa, M., Saeedinejad, Y., Biroudian, S., Fadavi, M., Khalajzadeh, M.R., Namazi, H.R., Ghasemzadeh, N., 2020. Developing" code of ethics for medical professionals, medical council of Islamic Republic of Iran". Archives of Iranian Medicine 23, 658–664.

Siegler, M., 2019. Clinical medical ethics: its history and contributions to American medicine. The Journal of Clinical Ethics 30, 17–26.

Singer, P.A., Pellegrino, E.D., Siegler, M., 2001. Clinical ethics revisited. BMC Medical Ethics 2, 1–8.

Truog, R.D., Brown, S.D., Browning, D., Hundert, E.M., Rider, E.A., Bell, S.K., Meyer, E.C., 2015. Microethics: the ethics of everyday clinical practice. Hastings Center Report 45, 11–17.

Veatch, R.M., 2000. Cross-cultural perspectives in medical ethics. Jones & Bartlett Learning.

World Health Organization, 2024. World Health Assembly endorses resolution on social participation [WWW Document]. URL https://www.who.int/news/item/29-05-2024-world-health-assembly-endorses-resolution-on-social-participation (accessed 5.22.25).

World Medical Association, 1948. WMA - The World Medical Association-Declaration of Geneva. URL https://www.wma.net/what-we-do/medical-ethics/declaration-of-geneva/ (accessed 5.22.25).

Chapter 2: Education and strengthening competence in clinical ethics

Clinical ethics is essential to high-quality, patient-centered care. Strengthening competence in this field benefits both professionals and the health system as a whole. This chapter offers practical guidance for organizing ethics education and lifelong learning in clinical settings. It includes recommendations for defining learning objectives, selecting effective teaching methods, and developing scalable training programs suited to various contexts. A special section focuses on the preparation and accreditation of clinical ethicists and CEC members. Real-world examples from around the globe highlight how clinical ethics education can be meaningfully integrated and sustained.

2.1. The importance of teaching and strengthening competence in clinical ethics

Both everyday- and complex ethical challenges can arise in patient treatment and care. How these challenges are addressed impacts the quality of care, patient and family experiences, staff job satisfaction, and trust in the healthcare system. Clinical ethics involves applying and interpreting ethical values and principles, a skill that can be taught and refined throughout a healthcare worker's career. Addressing healthcare ethical issues is not the sole responsibility of clinical ethicists or others with formal education and academic degrees; these challenges affect everyone in the healthcare field, making it essential to provide a strong foundation in ethics education. Building capacity and prioritizing education in clinical ethics is crucial for ensuring that healthcare professionals are equipped with the knowledge, skills, and ethical awareness needed to navigate complex challenges and deliver care that aligns with core values and other contextual factors.

Ethical challenges, such as weighing benefits against potential harm, resolving disagreements, or allocating scarce resources, can cause significant stress and moral distress for health care professionals (Amos and Epstein, 2022a). In many countries, staff recruitment and retention remain persistent issues. High turnover and intention to leave are linked to elevated moral distress and work environments that do not support ethical practice. Investing in context-adjusted and well-structured learning opportunities can better equip students and staff to navigate these challenges, potentially strengthening resilience and well-being in clinical settings (Amos and Epstein, 2022b; Rushton, 2024).

Clinical ethics and its education are interrelated with other professional concerns such as medical law, patient safety, and systems understanding of healthcare. While courses, programs and modules can be explicitly assigned to clinical ethics, the other learning arenas can be more implicit – integrated in other teaching, in practical training, in reflection groups, when ethical support services are involved in solving an ongoing dilemma and in the hidden curriculum when students and staff learn from their role models (Bennett et al., 2004). This makes clinical ethics a complex, yet vital discipline.

Unlike the global and national efforts to standardize the curricula and training in research ethics,

clinical ethics has received comparatively less attention. It often competes with other subjects in crowded curricula, and teaching resources, especially context-specific materials, are often limited. In many countries there is a need for a broader discussion on what should be taught, to explore and implement effective teaching methods, and to understand more about how life-long learning in clinical ethics can be fostered in daily clinical work (Bukusi, 2022). The approach to teaching clinical ethics varies widely across the globe, with differing levels of integration into healthcare education and daily clinical practice(Wong et al., 2022). In some countries, teaching and capacity building in clinical ethics are virtually non-existent, while in others, education programs, continuous training initiatives, and explicit funding and evaluation mechanisms are well established (Okoye et al., 2017; Tavares et al., 2021). A few countries even offer master's or fellowship programs to train clinical ethicists, supported by accreditation systems and dedicated professional roles Fox and (Wasserman, n.d.; Nicoli et al., 2017). Where clinical ethics services are provided, participating in the education of health care professionals is one of the main functions of the services (See chapters 3 &4).

The need for learning and competence in clinical ethics varies according to roles, responsibilities and clinical contexts. While all health care professionals require a foundational understanding, core skills and essential virtues and attitudes, others - depending on their specific roles - will require more advanced, detailed or specialized competencies. These diverse needs call for a stepwise and targeted approach to strengthening clinical ethics education and enhancing ethical competence within the healthcare systems. This chapter outlines educational needs across three levels: undergraduate education, postgraduate training and continuous professional development. Separate sections are dedicated to the training for members in clinical ethics committees, and advanced specialization as clinical ethics consultants and their potential role in education and strengthening ethical competence among health care professionals.

2.2. What should be taught? Learning objectives in clinical ethics

The content of a program or module is shaped by its intended learning outcomes, which specify what students are expected to achieve by the end of the learning process. A stepwise plan for learning objectives and activities is recommended. Courses should be designed with clear, measurable learning outcomes. Learning objectives are used to structure specific topics or activities that contribute to these outcomes. These objectives should be concise, clear, and specific, outlining what students will be able to do after a lesson based on the activities, teaching, and learning that took place. Well-crafted learning objectives should be Specific, Measurable, Achievable, Result-oriented, and Time-bound (SMART), providing students with a clear understanding of their learning goals. The learning objectives in clinical ethics teaching depend on several factors. See Box 2.1 for tips on what to clarify when developing or adjusting learning objectives.

The content and mandate

- Separate course or integrated with other subjects?
- How much time is available for the learning to take place? Including preparation, assignments?
- What resources are available for teaching activities (staff, time and localization)?
- What teaching material could be available (online, textbooks, local cases...)?
- Credited or not credited? Assignments? Exams?
- What is the context where the teaching will take place? Ongoing challenges, culture, religion, resources, local laws, ethical guidelines?

The educators

- Who are the teachers or the facilitators of continuous training, what are their skills and support?
- What can be done to support and ensure that they are prepared and skilled?
- What can be done to ensure a safe space for learning?

The participants

- What are the level participants' clinical experience?
- Do participants have former training in clinical ethics?
- What is the size of the group?
- What is motivation of participants mandatory or voluntary?
- If session is for a group of healthcare staff: Is the group a mix of professions and specialties or not? What resources do you have in the group?

Box 2.1. Clarifying questions when planning learning objectives for courses or teaching sessions in clinical ethics.

Learning objectives are often categorized into three main areas: Knowledge, Skills, and Attitudes (KSA), as outlined in Bloom's Taxonomy. After completing a learning episode, students should have gained new knowledge, developed skills, or shifted /strengthened attitudes. In the following section, this taxonomy is used to propose learning objectives for clinical ethics education. "Attitudes" here also includes character, virtues and moral integrity. The suggestions below (See Table 2.1) build on discussions among clinical ethics experts, students and staff from different parts of the world. The suggestions are not comprehensive and must be adjusted according to the context, profession, experience of the student, staff and teacher and the resources available.

In addition to the learning objectives presented in Table 2.1, there are special requirements for those who should teach. They should know how to apply validated teaching methods to facilitate learning in clinical ethics. Clinical ethics consultants and in many settings, committee members as well, have special responsibilities for capacity building and supporting healthcare staff, including leading ethical reflections and facilitating discussions (See chapter 3).

The overarching goal for teaching and capacity building in clinical ethics is to have healthcare students, professionals and clinical ethics consultants with attitudes and virtues that enable ethical practice. Therefore, structures, responsibilities and engagement are important in strengthening attitudes through role modelling, etc. from early on to lifetime practical work together. See APPENDIX table 2.2. that demonstrates questions which teachers, leaders, CEC-members and others who are involved in planning and implementation of education can ask to frame the guide their initiative in the wanted direction.

Category	Knowledge	Skills	Moral sensitivity, atti- tudes and virtues
Ethical challenges	Ethical challenges Understanding the nature of ethical challenges, including how they arise from value conflicts, uncertainty, and contextual complexities in clinical practice. Core themes and examples might include: • Uncertainty or disagreement about what constitutes the best course of action for the patient(s) • Determining who should be involved in decision-making and clarifying roles and responsibilities • Navigating competing values in situations involving: o Withholding or withdrawing life-sustaining treatment o Use of coercion or pressure in patient care o Allocation and priority setting of limited healthcare resources o Managing confidentiality and information-sharing dilemmas o Implementation and ethical use of new technologies o Addressing cultural, religious, or personal values that may influence care o Balancing students' educational needs with patients' dignity, comfort, and consent	Ability to identify ethical challenges in practice, articulate the core issues, and recognize the values at stake. Ability to explore ethical challenges in own practice.	Demonstrates a commitment to addressing ethical challenges with integrity, empathy, and a focus on patient and colleague well-being as well as societal concerns.
Analytic methods	Knowledge of background for, use and evaluation of systematic and structured methods for analyzing ethical challenges.	Ability to conduct ethical analysis, clari- fying value trade-offs, propose solutions on general and self-experi- enced challenges.	Strive for finding and supporting the ethically best solutions in clinical practice.
Theories and concepts	Overview of theories, principles, sources of knowledge, classical cases, and the development of the clinical ethics field, tailored to other learning objectives. Relevant legal regulations and guidelines.	Ability to use knowledge of ethical theories to analyze cases and justify decisions in a structured manner.	Shows openness to the insights offered by diverse ethical frame- works and a willingness to critically reflect on them.

Processes	Knowledge of strategies and frameworks for fair and legitimate decision-making.	Ability to apply procedural frameworks and tools to ensure fair processes.	Values transparency, equity, and inclusivity in decision-making
Reflection and debrief methods	Knowledge of the structure, purpose and benefits of structured ethical reflection in groups.	Ability to participate in (and facilitate) non-judgmental and respectful ethical reflection sessions.	Maintains openness and respect for other viewpoints during ethi- cal dialogues.
Support mechanisms	Knowledge of available resources for ethical guidance and support (like CEC) and ethical guidelines	Ability to identify and engage appropriate support systems for addressing ethical challenges	Demonstrates a pro- active attitude toward seeking and providing support when needed.
Communica- tion	Knowledge of effective communication strategies to address ethical issues.	Ability to communicate respectfully with patients, next of kin, colleagues and others, creating safe space for dialogue and decision-making processes	Prioritize empathy, active listening, and the dignity of all stakeholders.
Moral distress and moral resilience	Understand the nature of human reactions of being involved in ethical challenges and the core pillars of moral resilience. Knowledge of the concepts, theories and individual, team and organizational strategies for reducing the negative effects of moral distress and strengthening resilience	Ability to recognize signs of moral distress in oneself and others, apply coping and resilience-building strategies, and engage in constructive dialogue about ethically challenging experiences	Demonstrates self-awareness, emotional insight, and a commitment to personal and collective well-being. Cultivates moral courage, humility, and a supportive attitude toward colleagues facing ethical adversity.

Table 2.1. Suggested overarching learning objectives divided in knowledge, skills and attitudes. The objectives must be tailored to study length, profession, previous experience, roles, time and resources available etc. See box 2.1 for guiding questions for tailoring the learning objectives.

2.3. Who should be taught, and when?

2.3.1. Undergraduate teaching

Ethics education is a fundamental component of healthcare training and should begin early, continuing throughout clinical placements. Integrating ethics into clinical courses enhances learning by linking theoretical understanding with real-life ethical challenges. While dedicated time for ethics in the curriculum is important—not only to ensure foundational competence but also to make students aware of what they must learn to become responsible healthcare professionals—curricula are often dense, and only limited time and credit hours can typically be allocated to explicit ethics courses.

Given these constraints, ethics teaching at the undergraduate level cannot be exhaustive. Clear priorities must therefore be set regarding content and learning outcomes. Where possible, more dia-

logical and reflective formats—such as facilitated group discussions and integrated ethics teaching during clinical rotations—would enrich students' learning. However, such improvements must be balanced with contextual and resource considerations.

Tailored ethics education should reflect the structure of different programs. For example, medical schools with integrated pre-clinical and clinical phases may include patient contact early, implying early skilled based ethics teaching. In other curricula, introductory courses come first and then more integrated teaching when the students are in clinical terms. See boxes 2.2, 2.3 and 2.4 for examples. Shorter programs, like for example for dental assistants, should scale learning objectives and time dedicated to ethics teaching to fit their scope.

Limited teaching resources often necessitate delivering ethics education to large student groups, which may limit opportunities for interaction and reflection. Nevertheless, the use of digital tools and thoughtfully designed assignments can help improve the quality and effectiveness of teaching in these settings.

For guidance on teaching methods at this level, see section 2.4 and illustrations of how they are implemented, see the examples in the boxes.

Medical Ethics and Law I and II (4 ECTS) for Medical Students at Addis Ababa University, Ethiopia.

At Addis Ababa University, School of Medicine, two courses in medical ethics are integrated into the competency-based medical curriculum, which was introduced in 2020.

Course Structure:

3rd Year: Medical Ethics and Law I (32-hours course) and

4th Year: Medical Ethics and Law II (32-hours course)

Course format:

Students are expected to complete preparatory readings accompanied by quizzes and/or assignments during ten thematic sessions which are delivered over ten days by a team of six professors. The curriculum covers the following topics:

- Introduction to Medical Ethics
- Clinical Ethics
- Ethical Theories
- Ethical Communication
- Ethics and Law
- Ethical Challenges in Emergency Medicine
- Ethical Dilemmas in Minors
- Decision Making and the Concept of Autonomy
- Reproductive Health Ethics
- Priority Setting- Bedside Dilemmas.

Assessment: Group written assignment, group presentations, and examinations, including, multiple-choice questions (MCQs).

Comment: the courses are attended by approximately 120-160 students in a large auditorium, with some sessions held in group rooms. Teaching is often delivered by teams of two professors, supported by student representatives.

Box 2.2. Course in medical ethics and law for medical students at Addis Ababa University, Ethiopia (4 ECTs).

Undergraduate Clinical Ethics Education in nursing at UNICAMP (Brazil)

At the State University of Campinas (UNICAMP), ethics is integrated into the nursing program through the course *Professional Practice II*, offered in the fourth year. Ethics and moral reasoning are taught using **Problem-Based Learning (PBL)** in small groups, guided by tutors. Weekly sessions run over one semester (August–November), totally 30 hours.

Themes: Ethics and bioethics, nursing codes of ethics, patient rights, confidentiality, end-of-life care, public policy, and contemporary dilemmas.

Learning Methods: Case-based discussions, group reflections, and Cognitive Assessment Exercises (EACs) where students present on topics such as:

- Ethics and religion
- End-of-life decisions
- Equity and public policy (race, gender, class)
- Climate change and health ethics

Assessment: Based on participation, attendance (≥75%), group presentations, and exams.

Box 2.3 Example of how the explicit curriculum in clinical ethics is organized in undergraduate teaching of nurses in Brazil. The teachers describe to have chosen this model as it encourages active engagement with real-world ethical challenges, fostering critical thinking and professional reflection among future nurses.

Clinical Ethics Curriculum for Medical Students at the University of Bergen, Norway (5 ECTS)

1st Year: Introduction to Clinical Ethics (36-hours course)

Structure: Students complete preparatory readings or videos with an accompanying quiz or assignment before attending six thematic days with

- A 1-hour introductory lecture.
- An "Ethics Conversation" where clinicians, patients, next of kin, and others discuss real-life ethical challenges, serving as a basis for group work and assignments.
- Group work: case discussion and practice on ethical analysis.
- Participation in online discussion forums

Assessment: Written group assignment. Multiple-choice questions (MCQs) in exam.

Comment: 200 students, large auditorium and group rooms available. Two teachers, some assistance by older students/PhD-students in assessments and online facilitation.

Comment: Group of 100 students x 2. One teacher responsible.

Themes for the six days:

- What is clinical ethics? Identifying challenges, learn and practice on ethical analysis. Student dilemmas.
- Where are our limits? End-of-life challenges, values, culture, ethical theories.
- Who decides? Autonomy, decision-making capacity, laws, coercion, decision-making.
- Who should get? Priority setting and distributive justice. Procedural concerns.
- Why is it so challenging? Reproductive ethics, genetics, uncertainty, religion, virtues.
- What to do when we disagree? Procedural justice, moral deliberation, moral distress, clinical ethics support, communication and conflict resolution.

2nd Year: Public health ethics (12- hours course) with assignment and written essay exam

3rd Year: Research ethics (integrated in course on thesis writing)

4th Year: Integrated teaching in OBS/GYN and psychiatry

5th Year: Ethical challenges in clinical practice and organizational ethics

Structure: a) 4 hours of ethics reflection groups. b) course including teaching in resource allocation, ethical leadership and ethical practice

Assignment: Reflection note on a self-experienced ethical challenge.

Comment: Groups of 25 students x 8. Two teachers facilitating the groups and giving feedback on assignment.

6th Year: Advanced Ethics Teaching

Structure: Integrated sessions led by a clinician, legal advisor, and hospital chaplain focusing on practicing on making ethical decisions individually and as part of a team.

Assessment: Clinical ethics questions may be included in the final exam.

Box 2.4. Example of how the explicit curriculum in clinical ethics is organized with 5 ECTS dedicated in a 360 ECTS-curriculum for medical students. One ECTS credit points at 25-30 working hours. Professionalism, communication training and legal regulations are taught elsewhere.

2.3.2 Continuous professional development

Lifelong clinical ethics education is critical for healthcare professionals to address evolving challenges in care delivery. Continuous capacity building enhances knowledge, resilience, and job satisfaction while fostering ethical workplace cultures. Healthcare professionals serve as role models for students and colleagues, playing an indirect yet significant role in teaching and reinforcing ethical principles within their teams. Additionally, HCPs must be equipped to identify, articulate, and communicate systemic ethical challenges to policymakers and other stakeholders, advocating for necessary attention and change to improve healthcare systems. Capacity building in clinical ethics can be part of the quality improvement work in organizations, patient safety or initiative to improve health care services and work satisfaction. Leaders have key roles in initiating, supporting and speaking up for clinical ethics education. Taking part in or having a leading role in clinical ethics education is one of the main objectives for many clinical ethicists or clinical ethics committees.

Organize and Lead Educational Sessions

- Arrange seminars or lectures on relevant ethical challenges in healthcare.
- O Tailor content to general audiences or specific professional groups based on identified needs.
- Engage in thorough preparation of seminars/lectures to understand current dilemmas and differing viewpoints among staff.

Promote External Learning Opportunities

- Share information about relevant conferences, webinars, and seminars organized by external institutions.
- O Monitor free or accessible online resources and disseminate them through internal communication channels.

• Facilitate Informal Ethical Dialogues

- O Host recurring events such as "Ethics Cafés," "Ethics Salons," or "Brown Bag Lunches" where staff can discuss everyday ethical questions in a relaxed setting.
- O Encourage open, respectful exchange of perspectives across professions and hierarchies.

Develop and Maintain an Online Ethics Resource Hub

- Create a webpage or intranet section with curated materials, including guidelines, case examples, videos, and links to relevant sites.
- Regularly update content to keep it relevant and practical for clinical staff.

Engage with Existing Clinical Forums

- Attend departmental meetings, clinical rounds, or multidisciplinary forums to answer general ethics-related questions.
- Use these opportunities to build trust and increase visibility of the CEC.

• Facilitate Moral Case Deliberation (MCD)

- Offer structured case discussions using MCD or similar methodologies to support ethical reflection in complex or uncertain situations.
- Encourage participation across disciplines to promote shared learning.

• Be Present and Participate Actively

O Join ethics-related seminars or events arranged by others and contribute to discussions to model ethical reasoning and reflection in practice.

Box 2.5. Ways Clinical Ethics Committee (CEC) Members Can Support Ethical Competence Among Healthcare Professionals

Learning opportunities include courses, lectures, and clinical ethics reflection groups. See box 2.5. for ideas for what clinical ethics committees or clinical ethicists can initiate to facilitate continuous professional development among health care professionals. These activities not only improve skills but also contribute to team efficiency and high-quality care. Regular, structured ethics training in clinical settings should be prioritized. Bottom-up initiatives should be encouraged and supported. See example in box 2.6.

In 2005, due to the lack of formal bioethics education programs in Pakistan, clinicians from public and private institutions established the Karachi Bioethics Group (KBG) to address ethical issues in daily practice.

KBG meets bi-monthly, hosted by a different institution each year, and includes clinicians, medical students, residents, nurses, researchers, sociologists, and hospital administrators. From 2011 onwards, several graduates from the Postgraduate Diploma in Biomedical Ethics and Master in Bioethics programs from the Karachi Center of Biomedical Ethics and Culture, SIUT also participate in the discussions.

Meetings focus on morally challenging cases, fostering the ability to navigate conflicting values and develop ethical resolutions tailored to local contexts. Common themes include decision-making conflicts influenced by interdependent and often patriarchal family structures, as well as ethical challenges in delivering tertiary care without public health insurance. KBG members also contribute to ethics education through workshops and publications. They have authored two handbooks: Institutional Ethical Guidelines for Physician and Pharma Industry Interactions and Understanding Medical Error.

See more here: https://www.karachibioethicsgroup.org

Box 2.6. Example of how healthcare professionals themselves initiated a self-education model of capacity building in clinical ethics in Pakistan.

Several structured ethics support instruments exist—such as Moral Case Deliberation, the Nijmegen Method of Ethical Case Deliberation, and METAP—and are further described in Chapter 3. These approaches have been shown to enhance healthcare professionals' moral competence and reduce moral distress. Regular reflection sessions with colleagues, especially in interprofessional settings, offer important learning opportunities and can serve as safe spaces for sharing ethical challenges—provided they are thoughtfully facilitated (Metselaar et al., 2015). However, one common barrier to implementing such methods is their time intensity and the need for skilled facilitators, which can be difficult to integrate into busy clinical environments.

To address this, a group of researchers in the Netherlands, working with healthcare professionals in palliative care, developed CURA—a simplified, structured method for ethical reflection (Metselaar et al., 2022). CURA is designed to be easily integrated into daily routines and does not require extensive facilitator training.

Engaging in reflective dialogue on moral issues supports moral learning by broadening perspectives and highlighting considerations that may not have been previously recognized. It encourages shared understanding and prepares professionals for future ethical challenges. Learning to express ethical concerns, applying structured reflection methods, listening non-judgmentally, and evaluating decision-making processes are all essential skills for ethical clinical practice (Rushton et al., 2023). See box 2.7 for example.

MEPRA is a six-session experiential program designed to strengthen acute care nurses' ethical competence, mindfulness, and resilience.

The curriculum includes:

- Facilitated discussions
- Role-play and case-based learning
- Guided mindfulness and reflective practices
- High-fidelity simulation training

A longitudinal study with 245 nurses across two academic hospitals assessed outcomes at baseline, post-intervention, and at 3 and 6 months. Key findings:

Sustained improvements in:

- Ethical confidence and moral competence
- Resilience and work engagement
- Mindfulness
- Emotional exhaustion, depression, and anger

Delayed improvements (seen at 3 months):

- Anxiety reduction
- Increased empathy

Temporary gains (not sustained at 6 months):

- Reduced depersonalization
- Lower turnover intentions

Takeaway: Well-designed, experiential ethics education can significantly boost nurses' ethical readiness and well-being—but follow-up and sustained support may be needed to maintain all benefits over time.

See more here: https://www.aacn.org/education/ce-activities/a233233/the-mindful-ethical-practice-and-resilience-academy-sustainability-of-impact

Box 2.7. Mindful Ethical Practice and Resilience Academy (MEPRA) Continuous education program by American Association of Critical-Care Nurses (AACN), USA.

Many experience that conducting training sessions or reflection groups in multi-disciplinary teams is beneficial, also beyond the increased competence in clinical ethics. When tailored to own challenges and needs, educational initiatives can lead to improved and changed practices and increased psychological safety in the teams. See box 2.8 for example.

Deakin Bioethics in Australia has developed a 2-part clinical ethics short course on perioperative care.

The course was designed in collaboration with clinicians involved in perioperative care, starting off with an introduction to ethical decision making, and utilizing case studies and facilitated small group discussions. Participants of this course have included critical care consultants, surgical registrars, perioperative nurses, obstetricians and anaesthesiologists.

Box 2.8. An example of how a targeted short cross professional clinical ethics course can be developed and organized in Australia.

2.3.3. Postgraduate teaching

The integration of clinical ethics education in postgraduate training can take two main forms: a) as a component within broader healthcare programs—such as master's degrees in nursing or clinical specializations and residencies, orb) as stand-alone postgraduate programs focused specifically on ethics, including master's and doctoral degrees in the field.

Integrated in postgraduate programs: Postgraduate ethics training is organized differently world-wide, with responsibilities shared among professional organizations, universities, and healthcare institutions (Deonandan and Khan, 2015). Regular updates and stakeholder collaboration on content and implementation are essential.

Specialization or postgraduate training often serves as a first encounter with clinical ethics in regions where undergraduate teaching is limited. Training at this stage should focus on the ethical challenges specific to a practitioner's specialty, such as end-of-life care in oncology or coercion in mental health.

Undergraduate and postgraduate nursing program, Kyoto University, Japan

- Undergraduate Level:Hours & Themes: Typically covered within nursing ethics or professional ethics courses is approximately 15 hours. Themes may include ethical principles and guidelines, decision-making models, patient autonomy, informed consent, and end-of-life care.
- Learning Activities: Case-based discussions, role-playing, group work, and sometimes simulations (e.g., ethical dilemmas in palliative care).
- Assessment: Written reflections, case analysis assignments, and exams.

Postgraduate & Continuing Education:

- Specialized courses for clinical ethics consultation training and bioethics seminars for nursing professionals. Some
 institutions offer advanced ethics workshops focusing on shared decision-making, palliative care ethics, and interprofessional collaboration.
- The unique aspect of clinical ethics education in Japan is its emphasis on collective decision-making and family involvement, reflecting cultural values around patient care. Also, integrating spiritual and humanistic perspectives, including discussions on dignity and personhood, is increasingly recognized as essential.

Box 2.9. Example from Japan on undergraduate and postgraduate nursing.

Postgraduate Training in Clinical Ethics for Medical Doctors (Norway)

In Norway, postgraduate medical training for all specialties includes mandatory common learning objectives across ten thematic areas—one of which is clinical ethics. These objectives are structured in a stepwise progression, beginning with general competencies for interns and advancing to more specialized expectations for experienced physicians.

Learning activities may include:

- Participation in ethics courses and lectures
- Case presentations and discussions with colleagues
- Engagement with hospital-based Clinical Ethics Committees (CECs)
- Attendance in supervised reflection groups
- One advanced objective is the ability to lead ethical reflection in interprofessional groups.

The program is regulated by a governmental oversight body, which ensures that physicians meet the learning objectives before advancing. Hospital trusts are responsible for organizing and delivering the required training.

A challenge is that it looks great on paper, but hard to ensure in practice and evaluate.

Box 2.10. Postgraduate Training in Clinical Ethics for Medical Doctors in Norway

Postgraduate programs focused specifically on ethics, including master's and doctoral degrees in the field: Graduate-level education in clinical ethics encompasses a broad range of programs tailored to diverse professional backgrounds—including healthcare providers (such as physicians and nurses), healthcare administrators, and scholars in philosophy, law, and related fields. Some programs integrate ethics modules into master's degrees in clinical specialties or nursing, while others offer dedicated master's or doctoral degrees in clinical or bioethics. This diversity reflects the need to strengthen ethical capacity in alignment with local healthcare needs and professional roles.

The Doctorate in Bioethics (DBe) programme offered at Loyola University Chicago is a professional doctorate by coursework. Students enrolled in this programme can pursue a concentration in clinical bioethics by ensuring they are enrolled in specific modules during their time int he programme. These include modules on clinical ethics simulation, paediatric ethics, etc.

The Interdisciplinary Course in Health Law and Ethics (MPH, LLM, MA and PhD) at Yonsei University Graduate School in Seoul offers both master's and doctoral degrees in medical law and bioethics. Structured as a joint degree program across public health, law, and philosophy, it enables students to explore the perspectives and approaches of each discipline to issues in medical ethics and health law. Traditionally, the program has focused on developing clinical ethics at the policy level and disseminating it across healthcare institutions.

Box 2.11. An example of a postgraduate clinical ethics programme

Such education aims to prepare future leaders who will assume key roles in healthcare institutions, professional bodies, and health policymaking. Graduates may serve as ethics consultants, chairs of clinical ethics committees, advisors to national health authorities, or coordinators of institutional policy development. Their capacity to guide ethical deliberation and influence systems-level decisions is essential to embedding ethical values and practices throughout healthcare systems.

Leadership in clinical ethics requires more than moral commitment; it demands advanced communication skills, conflict mediation abilities, interprofessional coordination, and strategic thinking for policy influence. Graduate programs should therefore include dedicated training in leadership, stakeholder engagement, and systems analysis. These competencies enable clinical ethicists to serve as effective liaisons among healthcare teams, patients and families, administrators, and regulators—facilitating ethically grounded decision-making in complex, value-laden environments.

The curriculum should include in-depth study of ethical theory, legal reasoning, and their application in clinical settings. Students must develop strong skills in ethical analysis, case-based reasoning, and procedural fairness. Through simulation exercises, supervised case consultations, and structured reflection, learners should be equipped to support clinical decision-making, advise on moral dilemmas, and articulate ethically justified options tailored to particular contexts.

Finally, advanced training in clinical ethics should incorporate interdisciplinary research experience. Participation in cross-sectoral studies involving medicine, law, philosophy, and the social sciences helps students develop the integrative thinking needed to address complex ethical issues. Such research fosters skills in ethical reasoning, guidance in shared decision-making, conflict mediation, and a systemic understanding of healthcare institutions. Ultimately, graduate-level education must prepare ethicists not only to resolve ethical dilemmas, but to build ethical cultures within institutions and contribute to policy at local, national, and international levels.

2.3.4. Clinical ethics committee (CEC) members

CEC members come from diverse backgrounds and may not necessarily have completed a specific postgraduate course in ethics. Hence, they require foundational and ongoing education in clinical ethics to remain effective. For those without prior training in clinical ethics, an introduction to the field is essential (Udagawa and Takimoto, 2022). See example in box 2.12. Training should be flexible, accessible and tailored to their roles, balancing efficiency with depth.

In Singapore, every hospital is required to set up a CEC. In order to provide adequate clinical ethics capacity for this, the Centre for Biomedical Ethics at the National University of Singapore organizes an intermediate-level short course called the Essential Topics in Clinical Ethics (ETCE).

The course is primarily aimed at healthcare professionals and CEC members and consists of four units that are conducted using short online video lectures and synchronous facilitated case discussions online via Zoom.

- Unit 1. Ethical reasoning, ethical guidance and relationship with professionals
- Unit 2: Autonomy, informed consent, truth telling, decision-making capacity and best interests
- **Unit 3:** Shared decision-making, end of life decision-making, advance care planning and nonbeneficial treatment.
- Unit 4: Health law, defensive medicine and therapeutic innovations.

Box 2.12. Example of a course provided for CEC-members can be developed and organized and what the learning objectives can be in such a course.

As part of a research ethics collaboration, setting up a hospital clinical ethics committee was initiated in Mbeya region in Tanzania. Two workshops were held to train committee members. The training was developed through a collaboration between University of Oslo - Centre for Medical Ethics, University of Dar es Salaam, and Mbeya Zonal Referral Hospital via ETHIMED project (Enhancing Ethics in Medical Research and Clinical Practice). (Kuhumba et al., 2025)

Box 2.13. Example of collaborative initiative to train clinical ethics committee members in Tanzania.

National conferences and cross-institution collaborations can enhance learning and networking for CEC members. See example in box 2.16.

There have been initiatives to increase clinical ethics education in Kenya with the aim of equipping health-care professionals with knowledge skills and attitudes for handling ethical dilemmas, value conflicts and uncertainties. Due to the lack of a defined infrastructure, the Kenya National Commission for UNESCO (KNATCOM) in collaboration with the Ministry of Health, research ethicists and bioethicists have been at the forefront in championing setting up of CECs.

The efforts began in 2018 with health professionals and hospital quality assurance units being sensitized on the importance and need for CECs. By then there was only one CEC- Aga Khan Hospital which was set up because of the need for hospital accreditation by the Joint Commission.

In the last 5 years, four CECs have been set up and members trained. After the initial training, these committees are responsible for continuous training. To provide guidance on capacity building, a curriculum is being developed.

Box 2.13. Kenyan initiatives to enhance setting up of CECs and capacity building among healthcare professionals and hospital administrators.

2.3.5. Clinical ethicists

Clinical ethicists currently have varying levels of training, but no global standardized pathway for becoming a clinical ethicist exists. Most clinical ethicists will have obtained a postgraduate qualification in bioethics /medical ethics/ clinical ethics that may include a post-graduate certificate, post-graduate diploma, master's or a doctoral level award (Ph.D. or Doctorate). As the field grows, two initiatives are currently underway as part of professionalizing the field of clinical ethics. Firstly, certification programs, like the HEC-C credential in the U.S., offer structured qualifications, requiring continuing education to maintain certification. See box 2.14. Secondly, there are an increasing number of clinical ethics (clinical ethics related) fellowships that are gaining traction- however, the majority of these fellowships remain confined to the USA (Fox and and Wasserman, n.d.; Nicoli et al., 2017)Insubria University in Varese, "Federico II" University in Naples, Lanza Foundation in Padua and the Local Health and Social Care Unit n.7 (ULSS.

The Healthcare Ethics Consultant-Certified (HEC-C) program identifies and assesses a national standard for the professional practice of clinical healthcare ethics consulting. The HCEC Certification Commission which credentials healthcare ethics consultants, is an autonomous body created by the American Society for Bioethics and Humanities (ASBH) for this purpose.

October 8, 2024, the Council on Program Accreditation for Clinical Ethicist Training (COPACET) was officially approved by the Commission on Accreditation of Allied Health Education Programs (CAAHEP) in the USA. COPACET was set up to develop and manage an accreditation process for education programs, such as Clinical Ethics Fellowships, that prepare trainees for jobs as professional clinical ethicists. With this approval, accreditation standards can be introduced to shape clinical ethics training and education. https://www.caahep.org

One example of such a fellowship is offered at the Cleveland Clinic, providing is a two-year, full-time in-person program designed to prepare graduates to become leaders in clinical ethics.

https://my.clevelandclinic.org/departments/bioethics/fellowships

Box. 2.14. Example of certification program for the professional practice of clinical healthcare ethics consulting in USA.

2.3.6. Teachers in clinical ethics

In many teaching institutions worldwide, those responsible for clinical ethics education often lack formal academic training in the field, such as a master's degree in clinical ethics, and may not work full-time as clinical ethicists. Some are clinicians with expertise in a specific specialty and a personal interest in the ethical issues encountered in their practice. Others may have backgrounds in research ethics or general philosophy but are also tasked with teaching clinical ethics.

Clinicians or educators with limited training in clinical ethics should be provided with guidance, support, and opportunities to enhance their knowledge in the field, along with training in effective teaching strategies. These efforts are crucial for fostering attitudes, virtues, and ethical decision-making skills in students. For clinicians who should take part in teaching clinical ethics, gaining an understanding of basic ethical frameworks is particularly valuable, as it enables them to integrate these principles with their clinical expertise. This foundational knowledge should ideally be acquired before they take on teaching responsibilities in clinical ethics. See box 2.15 and 2.16. for examples.

A 6-week "Training the Teacher" program in medical ethics education was recently established in South Korea to enhance teaching capacity. The program is structured into six thematic weeks: Week 1 focused on Theories, Week 2 on Professionalism, Week 3 on End-of-Life Care and vulnerable groups, Week 4 on Technology and Research, Week 5 on Developing Medical Ethics Curriculum, and Week 6 concluded with a Workshop on learning and teaching medical ethics courses.

Box 2.15. Training the Teacher program in South Korea.

In Ethiopia, the Ministry of Health recognized the previously limited emphasis on clinical ethics within medical curricula and the scarcity of teaching resources necessary to strengthen this area. As the number of medical schools expanded from 10 to 28 to address the critical shortage of medical doctors, the need for trained educators in clinical ethics became increasingly evident. To address this gap, a training-of-trainers (ToT) program was developed and implemented through a collaboration involving Addis Ababa University, the Bergen Centre for Ethics and Priority Setting (Norway), the Ministry of Health, and the Ethiopian Medical Association. The collaboration led to the establishment of the <u>Addis Centre for Ethics and Priority Setting</u> (ACEPS).

Between 2011 and 2019, data were collected to ensure the curriculum was contextually relevant, key individuals were engaged, and teaching strategies and materials were developed. The ToT program was rolled out to participants from 23 medical schools, equipping them with the skills and resources to teach clinical ethics effectively.

The insights and lessons learned from this initiative are detailed here: TOT-ME-Ethiopia

Box 2.16. Example of an initiative to increase clinical ethics and teaching skills among potential teachers and responsible lecturers in clinical ethics in medical schools in Ethiopia(Miljeteig et al., 2017).

2.3.7 International medical education, clinical electives and specialized training abroad

Ethical considerations in international medical education include the moral responsibility of high-income countries (HICs) to support capacity building in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs), as well as the international accreditation of medical education programs. In recent decades, clinical electives in LMICs have become increasingly common for students from HIC universities. These electives are valued for promoting intercultural competence, enhancing understanding of global health systems and tropical diseases, and expanding clinical experience.

However, these benefits come with ethical challenges. Students may perform tasks beyond their competence, risking patient safety (Aldulaimi and McCurry, 2017). Limited understanding of local cultural, socio-economic, and healthcare contexts may hinder effective engagement, damage relationships with local professionals, and again compromise care (Bauer, 2017).

These concerns are well-recognized, and ethical guidance for both students and institutions has been consistently recommended. Various ethical frameworks have emerged in response. More recently, debates have expanded to critique the unidirectional nature of these electives—from HICs to LMICs—within broader discussions on equity in global health education and the decolonization of medical curricula (Garba et al., 2021). See box 2.17 with key ethical principles for international clinical electives.

The same challenges should be discussed when healthcare professionals go on "missions" or similar to train and practice in resource deprived settings.

Key Ethical Principles for International Clinical Electives

To ensure safe, respectful, and equitable experiences, institutions and students should be guided by the following principles:

- Humility Acknowledge limitations and avoid acting beyond competence
- Cultural Sensitivity Respect local values, practices, and health systems
- Critical Reflection Encourage ongoing reflection before, during, and after electives
- Local Embeddedness Align activities with local needs and guidance
- Equitable Partnerships Promote mutual benefit and long-term collaboration
- Student Well-being Prepare and support students for safe, ethical engagement

Aligned with guidance from the WMA and emerging global health education frameworks (World Medical Association, 2016)

Box 2.17. Key ethical principles for international clinical electives.

2.4. How can the teaching be done?

2.4.1. Pedagogical considerations

Teaching clinical ethics requires pedagogical approaches that reflect its complexity, focusing on values, dilemmas, and decision-making processes that often lack clear answers. The goal is not just to impart knowledge but also to build virtues and skills in identifying and addressing ethical challenges individually and in teams. Effective methods should encourage integrity, dialogue, cultural sensitivity, and critical reflection, enabling learners to navigate conflicting values. Active learning strategies, like case discussions, role-playing, and reflection groups, allow learners to practice analyzing complex situations and developing solutions. Articulating values and reasoning while respecting differing viewpoints fosters confidence and ethical competence (Metselaar et al., 2015).

This places specific demands on teachers, who must go beyond delivering knowledge to help students recognize and analyze ethical challenges, fostering virtues like integrity, fairness, and respect. Teachers must create a safe environment where students feel supported in exploring their values, even amidst uncertainty. Teachers unaware of their facilitative role risk acting as moral authorities, undermining the goal of ethics education: encouraging students to explore perspectives and collaboratively find solutions. Instead, teachers should guide discussions and help students critically engage with ethical challenges.

Importantly, educators need not be ethics experts. This is important as in many teaching institutions worldwide where those responsible for clinical ethics education often lack formal academic training in the field, such as a master's degree in clinical ethics, and may not work full-time as clinical ethicists. Online resources, teaching materials such as videos, online lectures, textbooks, and papers, can provide valuable background knowledge and serve as input for discussions. These resources can support both students and teachers by offering diverse perspectives and a foundation for engaging in meaningful and informed dialogue. By creating a safe learning space and embracing their role as facilitators, teachers can effectively support students, even with limited backgrounds in ethics.

2.4.2. Teaching methods and materials

Effective clinical ethics teaching requires a variety of methods and materials, carefully adapted to the needs of the target audience, available time, and contextual resources. While much of the training should be planned, it is equally valuable to seize opportunities for ad hoc learning through re-

sponsive discussions when ethical dilemmas arise in real time.

Box 2.18. shows various approaches in interactive teaching. By combining methods and materials, educators can create a dynamic and adaptable approach to clinical ethics education that resonates with diverse learners and contexts.

Team Based Learning:

- Example: Students working on the consequences of changing the abortion laws, assisted suicide or mandatory vaccination
- Structured group learning format where participants work in teams to solve complex ethical scenarios.
- Fosters collaboration, critical thinking, and shared ethical reasoning in a realistic decision-making context.
- Student-student teaching
- Example: Medical students creating "EthicTok", short videos as learning activities in the theme "Ethical challenges you can experience as a student" (Norway)
- Final year students being responsible for teaching first year students
- Benefits both groups of students and increase engagement in teaching
- Role Play
- Example: Group of staff playing the scenario where a family member asks the medical team to not tell the patient that he has cancer. (Ethiopia)
- Enables participants to explore ethical dilemmas from multiple perspectives.
- Useful for building empathy and practicing communication skills.
- Video-Based Learning, podcasts, films
- Short clips or full scenarios that illustrate ethical challenges.
- Can prompt discussion and reflection on real-life situations.
- Reflection Groups
- Example: CURA (Netherland)
- Small group settings to discuss ethical dilemmas and personal experiences.
- Promotes shared learning and deeper ethical insight.
- Case Discussions
- Example: Group of students discussing ethical challenging cases during their rotation in pediatrics and psychiatry (Zanzibar).
- Analyzing real or hypothetical cases to practice ethical reasoning.
- Particularly effective when cases are relevant to the local context.
- Clinical Rounds or Patient Stories
- Example:
- Using real-time or retrospective patient cases to highlight ethical issues.
- Engages staff directly in applied ethical reflection.
- Reflection Notes
- Written reflections by learners on ethical challenges they've encountered.
- Encourages individual critical thinking and self-awareness.
- Mentoring and Peer Discussions
- Facilitated or informal exchanges with colleagues or mentors.
- Builds ethical competence through shared experience and dialogue.
- Online Tools
- Webinars, online discussions, and e-learning modules.
- Accessible and scalable options for diverse groups.

Other specific methods as Debate- versus- Dialogue techniques, interviews of decision-makers, priority setting games,

Box. 2.18. Examples of interactive teaching methods to encourage skill-based learning in clinical ethics and development of wanted attitudes and behavior.

Compared to research ethics, clinical ethics has fewer standardized teaching materials like manuals and standards like in research ethics. There is a clear need to develop practical resources for educators – especially those with limited formal training in clinical ethics – who often work in demanding environments with large student cohorts and restricted teaching time.

Online Resources

- UNESCO core curriculum: <u>Bioethics core curriculum</u>, <u>section 1: Syllabus Ethics Education Programme UNESCO</u>
 <u>Digital Library</u>
- WMA Medical ethics.
- WHO: Module for teaching medical ethics for undergraduates
- UiB: Introduction to priority setting in health (5ECT, free admission)

Textbooks

- O Numerous resources are available, but their relevance varies based on context.
- Textbooks reflect dilemmas, laws, and values specific to that context where it is written. Might not be beneficial in other contexts.

Local and Real Cases

Using real, contextually relevant cases is essential to enhance engagement and applicability.

Customizable Tools

- O Worksheets, structured reflection guides, and ethical analysis frameworks.
- Multimedia Resources
- O Videos, podcasts, and articles can complement traditional teaching.
- Al-tools, VR-teaching

Box 2.19. Suggested teaching material.

For more concrete tips and strategies for how to plan curriculum, plan learning sessions etc. see tips in appendix.

References

Aldulaimi, S., McCurry, V., 2017. Ethical Considerations When Sending Medical Trainees Abroad for Global Health Experiences. Ann. Glob. Health 83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aogh.2017.03.001

Amos, V.K., Epstein, E., 2022a. Moral distress interventions: an integrative literature review. Nurs. Ethics 29, 582–607.

Amos, V.K., Epstein, E., 2022b. Moral distress interventions: An integrative literature review. Nurs. Ethics 29, 582–607. https://doi.org/10.1177/09697330211035489

Barbazza, E., Tello, J.E., 2014. A review of health governance: definitions, dimensions and tools to govern. Health Policy 116, 1–11.

Bauer, I., 2017. More harm than good? The questionable ethics of medical volunteering and international student placements. Trop. Dis. Travel Med. Vaccines 3, 5. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40794-017-0048-y

Bennett, N., Lockyer, J., Mann, K., Batty, H., LaForet, K., Rethans, J.-J., Silver, I., 2004. Hidden curriculum in continuing medical education. J. Contin. Educ. Health Prof. 24, 145–152. https://doi.org/10.1002/chp.1340240305

- Bukusi, E.A., 2022. Views of the taught and the teachers on medical ethics teaching in two universities in Kenya. Indian J. Med. Ethics VII, 304–311. https://doi.org/10.20529/IJME.2022.017
- Butler, J., 2022. What world is this? A pandemic phenomenology. Columbia University Press.
- California Hospital Association, 2020. FAQs on Writing Hospital Policies and Procedures, 2020.
- Chen, Y.B., Flood, C.M., 2013. Medical tourism's impact on health care equity and access in low-and middle-income countries: making the case for regulation. J. Law. Med. Ethics 41, 286–300.
- Chung, R.Y., Zhong, W., 2025. The moral burden of 'slow code' resuscitation in Hong Kong and its implications for advance medical decision legislation. Hong Kong Med J 31.
- Comer, A.R., Damush, T.M., Torke, A.M., Williams, L.S., 2019. The role of informed consent for thrombolysis in acute ischemic stroke. J. Clin. Ethics 30, 338–346.
- Deonandan, R., Khan, H., 2015. Ethics education for pediatric residents: a review of the literature. Can. Med. Educ. J. 6, e61-67.
- Edelstein, L., 1943. The Hippocratic oath, text, translation and interpretation. Baltimore, The Johns Hopkins Press.
- England, N.H.S., n.d. NHS England Our policies and procedures. URL https://www.england.nhs.uk/contact-us/pub-scheme/pol-proc/ (accessed 5.22.25).
- Erkkilä, P., Koskenranta, M., Kuivila, H., Oikarainen, A., Kamau, S., Kaarlela, V., Immonen, K., Koskimäki, M., Mikkonen, K., 2023. Ethical and cultural competence of social-and health care educators from educational institutions—Cross-sectional study. Scand. J. Caring Sci. 37, 642—653.
- Farmer, P., 2004. Pathologies of power: Health, human rights, and the new war on the poor. Univ of California Press.
- Fletcher, J.C., Brody, H., 1995. Clinical ethics: I. Elements and methodologies.
- Fox, E., and Wasserman, J.A., n.d. Clinical Ethics Fellowship Programs in the U.S. and Canada: A Descriptive Study of Program Characteristics and Practices. Am. J. Bioeth. 0, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1080/15265161. 2024.2388723
- Fox, E., Danis, M., Tarzian, A.J., Duke, C.C., 2022. Ethics consultation in US hospitals: a national follow-up study. Am. J. Bioeth. 22, 5–18.
- Frewer, A., 2000. Medizin und Moral in Weimarer Republik und Nationalsozialismus: die Zeitschrift" Ethik" unter Emil Abderhalden. Campus Verlag.
- Frolic, A.N., Drolet, K., 2013. Ethics policy review: a case study in quality improvement. J. Med. Ethics 39, 98–103.
- Garba, D.L., Stankey, M.C., Jayaram, A., Hedt-Gauthier, B.L., 2021. How Do We Decolonize Global Health in Medical Education? Ann. Glob. Health 87. https://doi.org/10.5334/aogh.3220
- helsedirektoratet, 2009. Decision-making processes in the limitation of life-prolonging treatment.
- Jonsen, A., Siegler, M., Winslade, W., 2015. Medical indications. Clin. Ethics Pract. Approach Ethical Decis. Clin. Med. 8e N. Y. McGraw-Hill Educ.
- Koch, T., 2014. The Hippocratic thorn in bioethics' hide: Cults, sects, and strangeness. J. Med. Philos. 39, 75–88.
- Köhler, J., Reis, A.A., Saxena, A., 2020. A survey of national ethics and bioethics committees. Bull. World Health Organ. 99, 138.
- Kuhumba, S.K., Sævareid, T.J.L., Mhando, N.E., Molewijk, B.A.C., 2025. Responding to Moral Challenges in Clinical Practice: A Qualitative Assessment of Clinical Ethics Support Needs at Three Tanzanian Hospitals. HEC Forum. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10730-025-09547-8
- Laney, D., 2007. Biomedical Ethics. Greenhaven, Farmington Hills, MI.

- Lanoix, M., 2009. Understanding the scope of clinical ethics. Am. J. Bioeth. 9, 45–46.
- lovdata, 2021. Amendment Act to the Health Personnel Act, etc. [WWW Document]. URL https://lovdata.no/dokument/LTI/lov/2021-05-07-31 (accessed 5.22.25).
- Martin, D.E., Van Assche, K., Domínguez-Gil, B., López-Fraga, M., Gallont, R.G., Muller, E., Rondeau, E., Capron, A.M., 2019. A new edition of the Declaration of Istanbul: updated guidance to combat organ trafficking and transplant tourism worldwide. Kidney Int. 95, 757–759.
- Metselaar, S., Molewijk, B., Widdershoven, G., 2015. Beyond recommendation and mediation: moral case deliberation as moral learning in dialogue. Am. J. Bioeth. AJOB 15, 50–51. https://doi.org/10.1080/152651 61.2014.975381
- Metselaar, S., van Schaik, M., Widdershoven, G., Pasman, H.R., 2022. CURA: A clinical ethics support instrument for caregivers in palliative care. Nurs. Ethics 29, 1562–1577. https://doi.org/10.1177/09697330221074014
- Miljeteig, I., Onarheim, K.H., Defaye, F.B., Desalegn, D., Norheim, O.F., Hevrøy, O., Johansson, K.A., 2017. Ethics capacity building in low-income countries: Ethiopia as a case study. Tidsskr. Den Nor. Legeforening. https://doi.org/10.4045/tidsskr.17.0759
- Minerva, F., Savulescu, J., Singer, P., 2019. The ethics of the global kidney exchange programme. The Lancet 394, 1775–1778.
- Moodley, K., Kabanda, S.M., Kleinsmidt, A., Obasa, A.E., 2021. COVID-19 underscores the important role of Clinical Ethics Committees in Africa. BMC Med. Ethics 22, 1–9.
- Moon, S., Armstrong, J., Hutler, B., Upshur, R., Katz, R., Atuire, C., Bhan, A., Emanuel, E., Faden, R., Ghimire, P., 2022. Governing the access to COVID-19 tools accelerator: towards greater participation, transparency, and accountability. The Lancet 399, 487–494.
- Moosavi, S., Solooki, M., Shamsi Gooshki, E., Parsapoor, A., 2022. Patient rights in the Iranian hospitals accreditation system: Explanation of challenges. Hayat 28, 243–258.
- Muzur, A., Sass, H.-M., 2012. Fritz Jahr and the foundations of global bioethics: the future of integrative bioethics. LIT Verlag Münster.
- NHS Trust, n.d. Policies, procedures and frameworks. R. Wolverh. NHS Trust. URL https://royalwolverhampton.nhs.uk/about-our-trust/policies-procedures-and-frameworks/ (accessed 5.22.25).
- Nicoli, F., Pegoraro, R., Spagnolo, A.G., Picozzi, M., 2017. Master in "Clinical Bioethics Consultation": an Italian training program for Clinical Ethics Consultants. Int. J. Ethics Educ. 2, 49–56. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40889-016-0025-8
- Okoye, O., Nwachukwu, D., Maduka-Okafor, F.C., 2017. Must we remain blind to undergraduate medical ethics education in Africa? A cross-sectional study of Nigerian medical students. BMC Med. Ethics 18, 73. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12910-017-0229-2
- Paasche-Orlow, M., 2004. The ethics of cultural competence. Acad. Med. 79, 347–350.
- Parsapour, A., Gooshki, E.S., Malekafzali, H., Zahedi, F., Larijani, B., 2021. The second strategic plan of medical ethics: a national report. J. Med. Ethics Hist. Med. 14, 17.
- Reich, W.T., 1994. The word" bioethics": its birth and the legacies of those who shaped it. Kennedy Inst. Ethics J. 4, 319–335.
- Rushton, C.H., 2024. Moral Resilience: Transforming Moral Suffering in Healthcare. Oxford University Press, New York, NY.
- Rushton, C.H., Swoboda, S.M., Reimer, T., Boyce, D., Hanson, G.C., 2023. The Mindful Ethical Practice and Resilience Academy: Sustainability of Impact. Am. J. Crit. Care Off. Publ. Am. Assoc. Crit.-Care Nurses 32, 184–194. https://doi.org/10.4037/ajcc2023236
- Segato, R., 2021. Crítica da colonialidade em oito ensaios: e uma antropologia por demanda. Bazar do tempo.
- Shamsi-Gooshki, E., Parsapoor, A., Asghari, F., Parsa, M., Saeedinejad, Y., Biroudian, S., Fadavi, M., Khalajza-

- deh, M.R., Namazi, H.R., Ghasemzadeh, N., 2020. Developing" code of ethics for medical professionals, medical council of Islamic Republic of Iran". Arch. Iran. Med. 23, 658–664.
- Siegler, M., 2019. Clinical medical ethics: its history and contributions to American medicine. J. Clin. Ethics 30, 17–26.
- Singer, P.A., Pellegrino, E.D., Siegler, M., 2001. Clinical ethics revisited. BMC Med. Ethics 2, 1-8.
- Soleimani, N., Bahmani, F., Parsapour, A., Larijani, B., Shamsi-Gooshki, E., 2024. Developing guidelines for ethical response to infectious disease outbreaks in Islamic Republic of Iran. East. Mediterr. Health J. 30.
- Tavares, A., Travassos, A., Tavares, R., Rego, F., Nunes, R., 2021. Teaching of ethics in medical undergraduate programs. Acta Bioethica 27, 101–117. https://doi.org/10.4067/S1726-569X2021000100101
- The Swedish National Council on Medical Ethics [WWW Document], n.d. URL https://smer.se/en/about-the-council/ (accessed 5.22.25).
- Truog, R.D., Brown, S.D., Browning, D., Hundert, E.M., Rider, E.A., Bell, S.K., Meyer, E.C., 2015. Microethics: the ethics of everyday clinical practice. Hastings Cent. Rep. 45, 11–17.
- Udagawa, M., Takimoto, Y., 2022. Practical training using immersive roleplay and an intensive course on clinical ethics consultation in Japan. BMC Med. Ethics 23, 118.
- UNESCO, 2005. Bioethics Committees at Work: Procedures and Policies.
- Veatch, R.M., 2000. Cross-cultural perspectives in medical ethics. Jones & Bartlett Learning.
- Wall, A.E., Fiedler, A., Karp, S., Shah, A., Testa, G., 2022. Applying the ethical framework for donation after circulatory death to thoracic normothermic regional perfusion procedures. Am. J. Transplant. 22, 1311–1315.
- Wibulpolprasert, S., Pachanee, C.-A., 2008. Addressing the internal brain drain of medical doctors in Thailand: the story and lesson learned. Glob. Soc. Policy 8, 12–15.
- Winkler, E.C., 2005. The ethics of policy writing: how should hospitals deal with moral disagreement about controversial medical practices? J. Med. Ethics 31, 559–566.
- Wong, M.K., Hong, D.Z.H., Wu, J., Ting, J.J.Q., Goh, J.L., Ong, Z.Y., Toh, R.Q.E., Chiang, C.L.L., Ng, C.W.H., Ng, J.C.K., 2022. A systematic scoping review of undergraduate medical ethics education programs from 1990 to 2020. Med. Teach. 44, 167–186.
- World Health Organization, 2025a. Emergency use of unproven clinical interventions outside clinical trials: ethical considerations [WWW Document]. URL https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240041745 (accessed 5.22.25).
- World Health Organization, 2025b. Universal health coverage (UHC) [WWW Document]. URL https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/universal-health-coverage-(uhc) (accessed 5.22.25).
- World Health Organization, 2024. World Health Assembly endorses resolution on social participation [WWW Document]. URL https://www.who.int/news/item/29-05-2024-world-health-assembly-endorses-resolution-on-social-participation (accessed 5.22.25).
- World Health Organization, 2023. WHO tool for benchmarking ethics oversight of health-related research involving human participants [WWW Document]. URL https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240076426 (accessed 5.22.25).
- World Health Organization, 2021a. HUMAN GENOME EDITING: A FRAMEWORK FOR GOVERNANCE.
- World Health Organization, 2021b. WHO Global Benchmarking Tool (GBT) for Evaluation of National Regulatory System of Medical Products Revision VI [WWW Document]. URL https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240020245 (accessed 5.22.25).
- World Health Organization, 2019. WHO expert advisory committee on developing global standards for governance and oversight of human genome editing: report of the second meeting [WWW Document]. URL https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/WHO-SCI-RFH-2019-02 (accessed 5.22.25).
- World Health Organization, Public Health England and partners, 2017. Health Emergency and Disaster Risk

Management ETHICS.

World Medical Association, 2016. WMA - The World Medical Association-WMA Statement on Ethical Considerations in Global Medical Electives. URL https://www.wma.net/policies-post/wma-statement-on-ethical-considerations-in-global-medical-electives/ (accessed 5.22.25).

World Medical Association, 1948. WMA - The World Medical Association-Declaration of Geneva. URL https://www.wma.net/what-we-do/medical-ethics/declaration-of-geneva/ (accessed 5.22.25).

APPENDIX

Will our teaching foster and facilitate:	Attitudes, behavior and virtues	
Commitment to ethical practice?	Demonstrates a genuine commitment to integrating ethical principles into daily clinical work and decision-making.	
Openness to diverse perspectives?	Values and seeks to understand different cultural, social, and personal view points, recognizing their impact on ethical challenges.	
Empathy and compassion?	Approaches ethical issues with empathy, understanding the emotions and needs of patients, families, and colleagues.	
Respect for the patient and dignity?	Shows respect for individuals' autonomy and dignity, even in complex or morally ambiguous situations.	
Non-judgmental attitude?	Maintains a non-judgmental approach when discussing or reflecting on ethical dilemmas, fostering an open and respectful environment.	
Reflection on biases?	Regularly reflects on personal biases and how they may influence ethical decisions, striving for fairness and impartiality.	
Commitment to lifelong learning?	Embraces ongoing learning and development in clinical ethics, recognizing its dynamic and evolving nature.	
Advocacy for ethical culture?	Actively promotes an ethical culture in the workplace, supporting fair processes and fostering a supportive environment for colleagues.	
Strategies to handle moral distress, strengthen moral resilience and ethical practice?	Identifies situations triggering moral distress and uses practical tools such as peer support, ethical reflection, and supervision; takes active steps to maintain moral resilience and uphold ethical standards in challenging clinical settings.	

Appendix table 2.2. Inspiration question when planning for or evaluating curriculums or capacity building initiatives in clinical ethics. The list of wanted attitudes is not comprehensive.

Actors	Oversight	Clinical ethics capacity for HCPs	Capacity building	Education
International bodies	- Developing recommen- dations and disseminat- ing good clinical ethics education policies		-Setting standards for increasing clinical ethics education capacity -Promoting sharing of the resources	-Promoting train-the- trainer programs
Government	- Ensuring ongoing capacity building within the jurisdiction - Establish a national-level clinical ethics education board - Engaging key stakeholders	- Setting standards for clinical ethics capacity among general practic- ing healthcare profes- sionals	 Identifying and narrowing the gaps Organizing and support professional bodies in developing clinical ethics materials and curriculum 	- Setting nation-wide clinical ethics education standards
Professional bodies	-Collaborating with institutions in capacity building and educating clinical ethics	- Setting clinical ethics capacity standards for the members	- Gathering evidence for the effectiveness of clinical ethics education - Tailoring and updating ethics guidelines	- Providing education sessions for the mem- bers and promoting by specifying credits etc. - Developing and refining the learning objectives
Institutions (hospitals, academic insti- tutes)	- Ensuring the clinical ethics being integrated into the curriculum - Appointing dedicated personnel to oversee clinical ethics education - Ensuring alignment with national and institutional learning objectives.	- Engaging all faculty, to emphasize ethical considerations - Developing the mission statement that incorpo- rate the clinical ethics considerations	- Providing training opportunities for clinical ethics educators - Identifying the needs of resources for assessments, exams, group facilitators, group rooms, and other teaching needs.	- Developing and war- ranting clinical ethics education program for its employees.
Clinical Ethics Committees	- Collaborating with the institutions in developing, providing and evaluating the clinical ethics education	- Developing SOP's that specifies clinical ethics standards and education requirements.	- Collaborating and suggesting real-life cases and scenarios for teaching purposes.	- Offering mentorship and guidance for health-care professionals and students engaging with clinical ethics issues Organizing training and capacity-building initiatives for committee members to ensure their skills remain up-to-date.

Appendix Table 2.3. Clinical Ethics Education Authority Matrix

Chapter 3: Clinical ethics consultation services



Clinical ethics consultation services are an essential and integral component of modern healthcare, particularly when ethical dilemmas arise in patient care. An influential article published in 1993, argued that clinical ethics establishes a "moral" space to address ethical concerns (Walker 1993). Such a consultative space is established by design and structure with the goal of promoting a "deliberative" process. Various methods or approaches have been promoted as the way to establish open and reflective dialogue that is the core of clinical ethics. These services address differences in beliefs or values that often contribute to conflicts, confusion, or disagreements in patient care. The differences are exacerbated by miscommunication and misunderstandings among those involved.

In general, the aim of clinical ethics consultation is not to make decisions for the parties involved, but rather to facilitate clear communication, identify ethical dimensions of the case, clarify values, explore alternatives, and help guide ethically appropriate actions. Moral distress is widely reported as a serious challenge affecting healthcare professionals and healthcare workers. This phenomenon points to the need for mechanisms in which multiple perspectives can be heard and discussed respectfully. Conflicts or disagreements about patient care are emotionally charged. Even among health care teams and with patients/families where respect and trust are solid, emotions influence how the problem is expressed and ultimately handled. Ethics consultation provides a venue in which these feelings can be expressed without fear of reprisal.

Clinical ethics services have a variety of forms. The choice about which functions are provided in a particular organization is typically based on the organization's need and the resources (skills and funding) available. Also, the regulatory or legal context can determine the clinical ethics services that are feasible.

3.1. Clinical ethics consultation structures

There a several structures though which clinical ethics services have been established.

3.1.1. Clinical ethics committee

The ethics committee is a commonly used format in hospitals and other health care organizations. Ethics committees are formal bodies that have specifically delegated authority for their functions including developing ethics policies, as well as providing education and consultation. The ethics committee consists of a diverse professional membership that may include physicians, nurses, social workers, chaplains, and clinical ethicists. Some ethics committees also include community representatives that are not affiliated with the hospital or hospital system and who bring a lay perspective. In the United States and Canada, the primary goal of clinical ethics committees is to promote ethical practices within healthcare organizations. In some countries, clinical ethics committees have additional and potentially conflicting responsibilities such as reviewing research protocols or addressing administrative or disciplinary issues. Although this arrangement is understandable, it is not ideal since the competencies required for clinical ethics are different.

The ethics committee may be convened to discuss current cases or, alternatively, only in exceptional situations, such as when all other efforts have failed to resolve the ethical issues. The entire ethics committee may conduct a retrospective review of cases that have already occurred. Such retrospective review can serve an educational purpose and reveal the need for ethics policy development or refinement. Patient and family notification of and participation in ethics committee meetings varies across systems. As an example, patients in a hospital in Padua, Italy are rarely informed of an ethics committee meeting, whereas they always are at a hospital in Paris (Fournier et al., 2009). The ethics committee meeting is documented in the patient chart at a hospital in Hannover, Germany, and patients have a legal right to access the record. However, at a Paris hospital, a written record is not made available to anyone, and the record of a consultation is retained only by the ethics committee (Fournier et al., 2009). As appropriate to the issue, the patient and/or family should be included. Situations of conflict among health professionals, however, might not involve the patient or family in the process of consultation. Ideally, ethics consultations and recommendations should be documented in the patient chart. Consultation services should establish procedures to record activities and to share information among consultants. Importantly, periodic reviews of such records can suggest quality improvement opportunities for clinical ethics services.

3.1.2. Ethics consultation team

Ethics consultation teams, composed of members of ethics committees or other individuals with specialized training in clinical ethics. These teams are structured to offer timely and effective support in dealing with complex situations. To ensure effectiveness, guidelines for the membership, structure and operation of the ethics consultation team should be established. Training should be defined to ensure that all team members possess the necessary skills and knowledge. Ethics consultation teams have the advantage of greater flexibility than the full ethics committee to respond to requests. This flexibility allows teams to respond swiftly to urgent ethical concerns, often providing immediate support when it is most needed. This agility enables them to adapt to the dynamic nature of clinical environments, ensuring that ethical considerations remain at the forefront of patient care. As such, ethics consultation teams can be helpful in cultivating an ethical culture within healthcare organizations, ultimately enhancing the quality of care and support provided to patients and families.

Periodic oversight by the ethics committee is essential to ensure that ethics consultation teams' activities align with institutional ethical standards and policies. Regular reviews of the team's performance, decisions, and outcomes will help identify patterns, improve practices, and maintain accountability.

3.1.3. Individual clinical ethics consultants

Ethics consultations are also provided by individuals with relevant ethics training and skills. Individuals are granted the privilege of providing ethics consultation services within a healthcare organization, ideally, through a credentialing process. They have relevant training, and they function according to guidelines established by the institution or ethics committee. Like other healthcare consultants, ethics consultants function as independent professionals and are typically more readily available than the full committee or team to respond to requests for help in addressing problems arising in the immediate course of patient care. Individuals who provide such services are trained

to advise about and apply ethical principles, relevant laws or regulations, health profession society ethics guidelines, as well as relevant policies of the institution as appropriate to the individual case situation.

Individual ethics consultants come from a variety of home disciplines or professions, but they all possess core knowledge of healthcare ethics, and they have specialized communication and problem-solving skills. Since only one person is involved in the consultation process, interactions are simplified. An individual ethics consultant can have responsibility for addressing concerns from all components of an institution or health care system or can be focused on one setting. Such "embedded" ethics consultants have a unique interest and specialized competencies appropriate for their practice setting. An ethics consultant embedded in an organ transplantation service, for example, might serve on the organ transplantation selection committee, routinely participate in transplant team rounds, or conduct ethics liaison rounds. As such, they have greater visibility to patients and families.

3.1.4. Remote ethics consultation

The previous models function in person, a fact that makes them inefficient, without modification, for supporting health care providers and patients in remote or disseminated settings. Remote ethics consultation has emerged as a vital resource in healthcare, particularly in the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic, which has driven the adoption of telehealth and virtual communication tools. Remote consultation by video conferencing, phone, or e-mail are ways to avoid the need and cost for travel to remote sites. They make it easier to respond to practitioner needs more quickly than is otherwise possible. Training ethicists in remote engagement techniques, enhancements in virtual communication tools, and ongoing evaluations of ethical consultations practices can strengthen this service, benefiting both healthcare professionals and the patients they serve. Staff resources are required to sustain these types of access as well as other resources. Besides staff with clinical ethics competence, technologically dependent approaches require an infrastructure investment and on-going technical support. Privacy and confidentiality present a complex set of challenges that deserve special attention. Nevertheless, with appropriate infrastructure and support, remote ethics consultation can be an effective way to meet the needs of practitioners in disseminated practice settings.

3.1.5. Implicit and informal clinical ethics

In healthcare settings without structured clinical ethics support services, ethical issues are often addressed in various ways. Implicit ways of dealing with ethical issues in clinical settings arise when participants do not frame the issues explicitly as being ethical or moral in nature, and occur in settings like clinical department meetings, board meetings, management meetings, and informal "hallway" discussions. Existing mechanisms like family conferences or team meetings are also settings in which discussions are framed without specific acknowledgement of the ethical nature of the issues. Informal approaches occur when those involved recognize that ethical issues are under discussion, but there is no structured format or framework for the discussion. Informal approaches can also occur in a variety of settings, including corridor conversations, clinical team meetings, and so on. These implicit and informal modalities differ from formal clinical ethics processes in that they are not typically critical or reflective in nature and do operate in a way that clearly yields principled or ethically justified outcomes. In contrast, formal clinical ethics provides a structure for explicit ethical thinking

and discussion and is increasingly recognized as an essential support for efficient healthcare. It has been noted, however, that informal mechanisms can serve as a social foundation for establishing structured clinical ethics support and clinical ethics programs (Aboud et al., 2018; Kuhumba, 2024; Moodley et al., 2021; Moodley et al., 2020; Nanyonga et al., 2024).

3.2. Clinical ethics competence

A general widely referenced characterization by the American Society for Bioethics and Humanities (ASBH) is the so-called facilitation model. It is geared toward identifying the competencies that are essential for the practice of ethics consultation. As such, it is framed at a meta-level, which means that it sets out the core competencies for doing ethics consultation that are shared among approaches. (American Society for Bioethics and Humanities, 2024) The elements are:

- Identify, clarify, and analyze specific ethical questions, concerns, dilemmas, or conflicts pertinent to the given situation.
- Gather relevant background information by examining medical records and other documents such as professional practice guidelines and policy statements, codes of ethics, books, and journal articles.
- Facilitate discussion with involved parties to gather and clarify information and relevant values, goals, and preferences.
- Introduce and clarify relevant ethical concepts and normative guidance.
- Identify ethically acceptable options and provide an ethically grounded rationale for each option.
- Facilitate mutual understanding of relevant facts, values, and preferences.
- Support ethically appropriate decision-making while respecting differing points of view, values, cultures, religions, and moral commitments of those involved.
- Synthesize the relevant medical and values-based information into an ethical analysis and assessment.
- Make ethical recommendations as appropriate; and,
- Apply mediation or conflict resolution techniques as appropriate.

This characterization is remarkably neutral regarding how to conduct an ethics consultation. Specific methods may augment, highlight, omit, or modify these features, but they provide a useful list of the component competencies that healthcare organizations can use as a guide to vetting individuals to provide clinical ethics and consultation services. Other approaches are more accurately termed methods in that they define processes for actual doing ethics consultation or for providing clinical ethics support services (Agich 2005, 2010).

3.3. Methods of clinical consultation and support

The methods used in clinical ethics consultation share the goals to open discussion and to identify ethically justified responses to ethical questions and to assist participants to gain greater moral clarity, understanding and confidence to address ethical challenges as independent moral agents (Delany C, Feldman S, Kameniar B, et al. 2025). These approaches can be classified as either top-down or bottom-up. In top-down methods, the ethics consultant brings practical expertise to clinical situations of conflict. The hallmark of such approaches is that a cardinal framework guides decision-making, for example, principlism (Beachamp and Childress, 2021), the widely used "four-box"

method (Jonsen, Siegler, Winslade 2019) the CASES approach (Fox et al., 2022), or the Nijmegen method (Steinkamp and Gordijn 2003). In contrast, bottom-up methods focus on the health professional or patient/family's own beliefs and values with the goal of motivating them to address ethical concerns. The orientation of these methods is dialogical. It aims to create space for open discussion of ethical values and beliefs and is driven more by establishing a reflective dialogue among health professionals about ethical matters in healthcare. The actual practice of ethics consultation involves actions and communications that contain elements from various methods. Although formal statements of methods do not necessarily play out in practice of doing ethics consultation, they have a role to play in how services are constructed. For example, conflict resolution, mediation, and values clarification are skill-based methods that are useful in situations in which conflicts or disagreements obstruct communication and decision making.

3.4. Proactive approaches in clinical ethics support

While ethics consultation is paradigmatically a response to conflicts and problems arising in patient care, other approaches are designed to be more proactive or preventative in nature. Ethics liaison rounds and dialogue-based approaches are characterized by collaborative engagement, active listening, reflective practice, and a proactive focus on collaborative decision making. These elements contribute to a more holistic and inclusive method of addressing ethical dilemmas in healthcare settings by building competence. For example, moral case deliberation (MCD) is a structured, dialogue-based approach to ethical decision-making. It focuses on real-life moral dilemmas, engaging professionals in a facilitated discussion to reflect on ethical challenges and develop moral competence. While ethics consultations are often reactive, called upon during specific dilemmas, MCD is more proactive aiming to develop ethical reflection and moral learning over time. Some healthcare institutions use both approaches to provide layered, ongoing ethical support: ethics case consultations for acute issues, and proactive approaches for team development and long -term capacity building. In proactive approaches, there is no pressure to make a decision; it is enough to have reflected, considered, discussed, perhaps clarified or advanced thinking but without any final resolution.

3.5. Specialized Ethics Consultation Services

Depending upon the size and resources of a specific institution or hospital system, specialized ethics consultation services have been established. These differ from embedded consultation services in that the consultant or committee members do not round with a specific medical team. However, they develop specialized expertise in the ethical issues that frequently arise in specific care contexts. A review of the literature suggests that such specialized ethics consultation services occur most frequently in the contexts of paediatrics, psychiatry, and when patients lack both capacity and a surrogate to make care decisions for them, although they have been utilized in other subspecialities as well (Meredyth, Fins, and Melo-Martin, 2022; De Panfilis et al., 2022).

3.5.1. Paediatric ethics consultation services

Unlike ethics consultations involving adults, which ideally consist of a patient or a patient surrogate and a care provider discussing and determining which of the potential care options most closely aligns with the patient's values or best interests, paediatric consultations involve a triad: the parents or guardian, the child, and the care provider. The extent to which the child-patient is provided with

knowledge about their condition and is permitted to participate in these discussions varies with the child's age, level of maturity, parental preference, local custom, and legal framework (Buchanan et al., 2019). And, unlike consultation services provided in the case of adult patients, parents may want and need to consider the impact of their decisions on behalf of the patient-child on that child's siblings, if any.

Accordingly, individuals providing ethics consultation services in paediatrics must have a solid understanding of child development, the scope and limits of parental authority in the context in which they are working, and family dynamics (Buchanan et al., 2019; Lyren and Ford, 2007). The literature that has examined the ethics services provided in the paediatric context has found that the most frequently consulted issues include end-of-life care, the benefit versus the burdens of treatment, and staff moral distress (Weaver, Sharma, and Walter, 2023). The wide range of disciplines often included on committees that specialize in paediatric consultations—a paediatric physician (intensivist, generalist, or surgeon); a nurse; an ethicist; a clergy person; a patient care advocate; a lawyer or hospital administrator; a social worker, psychologist, or child life specialist; and a hospice representative—helps to ensure that the committee as a whole possesses the requisite skills (Lyren and Ford, 2007).

Paediatric ethics committees may also be involved in the development of institutional policy as it pertains to paediatric best practices. Their participation in policymaking enhances the likelihood that the policies developed for adults will not simply be repeated for children and adolescents and that the policies will reflect the ethical standards that apply to paediatric care.

3.5.2. Psychiatric ethics consultation services

Specialized clinical ethics consultation services may be particularly necessary and welcome in the context of psychiatric care because the ethical issues that arise often differ significantly from those arising in the non-psychiatric context (Löbbing et al., 2019). Researchers in Germany found that ethical issues in this context tend to cluster in one of three domains: the relationship between the psychiatrist and the patient; situations involving third parties in addition to the psychiatric provider and the patient; and ethical issues involving additional systems (Haltaufderheide et al., 2021). Issues between the psychiatrist and the patient often involve conflict between the ethical principles of autonomy and beneficence, e.g., whether a patient should be mechanically or pharmaceutically restrained due to a likelihood of self-endangerment, how to address a patient's refusal of treatment (Haltaufderheide et al., 2021; Löbbing et al., 2019). Questions may be raised as to whether a hospital unit should be maintained, even temporarily, as a locked ward in an effort to reduce the likelihood that a particular patient will abscond if it means that other patients in the same unit —the third parties here—are unable to come and go freely. Finally, the reliance of departing patients in an open-door psychiatric unit on emergency medical teams to transport them back to the hospital places additional financial and human resource burdens on the emergency teams and could potentially lead to teams' inability to respond to other, more emergent situations, a situation that raises issues related to distributive justice and access to resources (Haltaufderheide et al., 2021). Researchers in Japan found that the solicitation of ethical consultations in the psychiatric context were most frequent in situations involving conflict with the patient's relatives, questions relating to the treatment of individuals with cognitive impairment, the discontinuation of treatment, and suicide or attempted suicide (Soto and Takimoto, 2023).

3.5.3. Persons without Proxy (PwP) Committees

PwP committees, composed of community representatives that are not connected with the hospital or the hospital system, function together with the ethics consultant or committee and the care team. In essence, they stand in as a surrogate for the patient when the patient lacks capacity to make their own health care decisions and also lacks a family member or other surrogate who can make health care decisions for them. Members may be selected to reflect the community's demographic composition with respect to race, ethnicity, religion, and sex, with the aim of providing a range of perspectives that is reflective of the community. The PwP members rely on the health care team to define the clinical issues and on the ethics consultant or committee to define the ethical issues. The PwP members provide the ethics service and the clinical care team with diverse perspectives regarding the value-laden issues raised in the patient's situation when the patient is unable to make his or her values known and has no one who can communicate their values for them. When the patient's values are not known, PwP members strive to determine which of the medically appropriate and advisable courses of care is in the patient's best interests. In this way, the members essentially serve as the voice of the patient who otherwise may not have a voice (Loue, 2022).

Because individuals who serve on the PwP committee do so voluntarily and are not attached or affiliated with the institution, they are also not beholden to the institution and can provide their opinions without fear that it will affect their positions. Because they are volunteers, they may not be available on short notice. Depending upon the local context, the establishment of a PwP committee may require judicial approval.

3.6. Advantages and disadvantages of common clinical ethics structures

3.6.1. Clinical ethics committee

Advantages: The multidisciplinary composition of ethics committees enables the discussion of ethical dilemmas from various experiences and value perspectives. This diversity of individuals is an important strength of the committee. Because committee members often have different disciplinary training and experiences, their participation not only facilitates an assessment of each case from a variety of disciplinary stances but also brings a range of moral perspectives to their assessment of value-laden issues. As an example, whether care should be escalated for an elderly patient suffering from chronic encephalopathy raises both clinical issues: "is an escalation of care for this patient medically appropriate and advisable and, if so, what form of escalation" and ethical issues: "does the patient want care to be escalated, what are the patient's values if known and, if not, is there an appointed surrogate, what is in the best interests of the patient, and so forth." A diversity of perspectives can be advantageous in navigating such a situation. Ethics committees are best suited to apply ethics policies which they created.

Disadvantages: Although committee consultation can be advantageous, by their very nature, they can be constrained by formal procedures or operational rules. In a committee setting, open discussion may be inhibited by rules of order or processes such as recording minutes and filing reports. Conducting ethics committee consultation in settings away from patient care units can additionally limit the involvement of relevant health professionals as well as patients or families. Additionally, delays associated with scheduling meetings involving multiple participants can impede timely communication and decision-making. Procedural formalities may exist, making it challenging to respond

promptly in urgent situations. In some institutions, access to the ethics committee may be limited by policy, with only certain cases being brought forward for review. This can result in some ethical issues not receiving the attention they deserve.

Participation of a full clinical ethics committee in a consultation with a patient and/or the patient's family may be intimidating, if only because of the number of people involved. Such consultations may also seem to be more formal, and patients and family members may be reluctant to raise issues or openly disclose their ethical commitments, because of the perceived leanings of committee members. Because many or most of the committee members may be clinicians themselves, there may be a tendency to either second guess recommendations of the care team or engage in "group think" rather than engaging in critical reflection with respect to the ethical issues.

3.6.2. Ethics consultation team

Advantages: Ethics consultations provided by a team may be less threatening to patients and their families than a committee consultation, because of the reduced number of participants. Depending on how the teams are constituted, they, like committees, can bring diversity of views. They are typically able to respond to requests for assistance in a timelier fashion and are more flexible in meeting with health professionals, patients, and families at the site of patient care. Because fewer staff members are called upon to participate, team consultation is more cost effective than full committee consultation.

Disadvantages: The small team model also has several drawbacks, however. Like committees, differences in professional perspectives and values within the team may complicate how advice is given and received. However, without the constraint of formal procedural requirements of committees, ethics team members can work at cross purposes. Because fewer individuals are involved in the consultation, there is a smaller range of both disciplinary and moral perspectives brought to the discussion. Coordinating among team members can be time consuming, which may delay decision making in urgent situations. The need for consensus can also complicate and prolong the consultation process.

3.6.3. Individual ethics consultants

Advantages: Ethics consultation by individuals avoids some of the procedural challenges associated with both committees and teams. Individual ethics consultants offer greater flexibility in responding to unique or emergent aspects of a case. Individual ethics consultants may be more easily reached and their participation arranged on short notice, such as through a pager or mobile phone, as compared with either small team members or a full ethics committee. For example, whether working individually or as part of a small team, ethics consultants can more easily meet with patients, their families, and healthcare professionals when needed. In addition, ethics consultants can engage in multiple conversations with involved parties, following a case over several days if necessary. Because a critical component of ethics consultation is a thorough assessment of what is often a dynamic situation, individuals can be more flexible in gaining access to the health care team members involved as well as to patients and their families. Their involvement can be ongoing rather than a one-time event. This allows for follow-up and sequenced input as the clinical picture evolves. Also, individual case consultation by medical specialists and other health professionals is a routine feature of health care and so is less likely to be perceived as an intrusion in the routines of patient care or as a chal-

lenge to professional authority than other mechanisms.

Disadvantages: The knowledge and skills required for individuals to provide ethics consultation are not dispersed among committee or team members, so specialized training is essential to develop the requisite competence. Individual consultants might be less open to fewer perspectives than other mechanisms. Because the ethics consultant is a single individual, there is the risk that an unintentional personal or cultural bias may be injected into the ethical discussions. In some instances, the individual ethics consultant may lack the experience or discipline to fully address multifaceted issues. Additionally, if there is only one individual responsible for consultations in a situation characterized by a high volume of requested consultations, burnout can result from the intensity and frequency of the consultations. (Firn & O'Neil, 2020) Clinician familiarity may lead to "mission creep" or boundary violations whereby the clinician or other care team member may ask the ethics consultant to perform an activity that is outside of the ethics consultant role or, conversely, where the consultant assumes a level of familiarity and offers advice that is beyond the scope of the ethics consultant's role.

3.6.4. Remote ethics consultation

Advantages: One of the primary benefits of remote ethics consultation is increased accessibility. Healthcare professionals and patients can engage with ethics consultants regardless of geographical constraints, making it easier for institutions in rural or underserved areas to obtain ethical guidance. This immediacy is particularly important in urgent situations where timely ethical decision-making is crucial for patient care.

Remote consultations also promote efficiency. With the ability to utilize video conferencing or phone calls, ethics consultation teams can respond more quickly to inquiries. This rapid response capability can help resolve conflicts arising from complex clinical situations, thereby enabling healthcare teams to focus on patient care without prolonged delays. Additionally, remote consultations can facilitate interdisciplinary collaboration by allowing team members from various specialties and locations to participate seamlessly in discussions, enhancing the richness of ethical deliberations.

Furthermore, remote ethics consultations can foster a more open dialogue. The virtual setting may soften hierarchical dynamics, making it easier for frontline staff to voice concerns and engage in discussions about ethical dilemmas. This democratization of the consultation process can lead to more robust input from diverse perspectives, ultimately enriching the ethical decision-making process.

Disadvantages: One significant concern is the potential for communication barriers. Nonverbal cues, which are crucial in ethical discussions, may be diminished in virtual settings. This limitation can lead to misunderstandings, or misinterpretations of key concerns, so it is essential that ethics consultants develop strategies to mitigate these risks, such as encouraging open dialogue and verifying understanding.

Another disadvantage in virtual consultations is presented by issues relating to data security and patient confidentiality. Ethics consultation often involves sensitive information, and maintaining confidentiality is paramount. Organizations must therefore invest in secure platforms and adhere to privacy regulations to protect both patient and institutional data.

Building rapport and trust in remote settings can also be more challenging than in face-to-face in-

teractions. Establishing effective relationships with healthcare teams and patients is essential for a successful consultation, and efforts must be made to foster these connections despite the absence of physical presence. This may require additional time and intentionality on the part of ethics consultants.

3.7. Contextual challenges and impediments to establishing ethics services

Resistance to the clinical ethics services in patient care arises from a cluster of factors. These include the hierarchical structure of institutional healthcare, where open discussion of patient care decisions is not encouraged. Inadequate leadership within health care impeded the development of ethics services. Ethics consultation can be perceived as a challenge to traditional professional authority even though many professional medical societies have embraced it and, like other forms of consultation, it provides recommendations rather than binding decisions.

Access to ethics consultation is a common challenge, because some prefer to ignore problems, and resist involving or supporting the open discussion essential to ethics consultation. In many settings, it is still unsettled whether all members of the health care team and patient/families/surrogates can request help from ethics (Agich and Youngner 1991). Even when that is not a problem, communication "bottlenecks" can occur and procedures for access may be unclear or inadequate. Leadership is required to promote the cooperation of healthcare professionals in the consultative process when they do not see open discussion of value conflicts as their job. Although identifying and addressing oppositional attitudes and behaviors should be a priority for both ethics consultants as well as organization leaders, in the typical way of doing things they might be ignored. In the long run, the perceived lack of support from leaders limits the effectiveness of ethics consultation in improving the overall quality of care.

Historically, forces outside health care prompted the development of clinical ethics. Changes in the law and accreditation standards (JCAHO 1992) envisioned the need for mechanisms within health-care institutions as the best way to resolve value conflicts, especially over end-of-life care, instead of through the courts. While there are external incentives for health care to embrace clinical ethics, resources to enable ethics support are in short supply. Resource restraints are a chronic and universal problem for health systems. Overcoming the inertia associated with traditional ways of dealing with challenges in patient care is common. However, there is growing recognition that conflicts arise in specialized care units, e.g., critical care units or involving ethically challenging situations such as termination of pregnancy or high-risk clinical interventions, and are emotionally costly, resulting in burnout among healthcare workers. More recently, the COVID-19 pandemic has created massive burnout and moral distress across the spectrum of health care as well as anxiety and stress on families. The prominence of emotionally charged and ethically challenging situations in patient care indicates that there is need for services that help to ameliorate the distress plaguing healthcare systems is pressing.

Attitudes and behaviors on the part of healthcare professionals and healthcare administrators can mirror broad cultural and social attitudes and behaviors that impede open discussion and make critical reflection on beliefs and values difficult. Community authority figures can undermine support for clinical ethics. These factors point to the need for frank discussion among community leaders about

social attitudes and values that promote or impede the best patient care.

There is general agreement about the types of knowledge and skills necessary for effective clinical ethics consultation and clinical ethics support. These include knowledge of practical patient care ethics, law, regulations, and professional guidelines. In addition, knowledge of medical terminology, clinical practice settings, as well as communication and specialized skills such as medical record interpretation, interviewing, mediation or conflict resolution are necessary. However, there is no standard approach for developing the prerequisite competences, which is understandable given the interdisciplinary character of the field (ASBH Clinical Ethics Task Force, 2009). The avenues for education and training are diverse, and include bioethics and health law courses, topical seminars or workshops, clinical health care ethics conferences, mentorships, and fellowship programs, but they may not be readily available in all settings. This is a concern not only for entry into the field of clinical ethics, but for continuing education as well.

In addition, to the knowledge and skills, a specialist in clinical ethics is also expected to act with an open, non-dogmatic, and supportive attitude towards health professionals and patients/families involved. It is essential that the clinical ethics committee, team, or consultant operate in a non-judgmental fashion. These expectations can be difficult to meet in settings in which institutional, cultural, ethnic, religious, or social attitudes allow intolerance and even stigmatize certain groups. Since the fundamental purpose of health care ethics is to provide care for patients as suffering humans, accommodating differences in ways that respect basic human rights though is essential.

The COVID pandemic and the world-wide challenges associated with caring for individuals displaced by war, climate change, or political/economic circumstances have shown that the ethical challenges arising in health care are global and not confined to or constrained by national or regional boundaries. As health professionals are increasingly forced to deal with patients from different ethnic, cultural, or religious backgrounds, systems, value conflicts that impede humane and ethical patient care are inevitable. To deal with these challenges, resources such as education in clinical ethics and training in ethics consultation as well as financial and administrative support should be a priority for health care organizations and systems. Health care organizations and systems must ensure that qualified individuals provide ethics services.

Although clinical ethics services and ethics consultation first developed in hospitals, healthcare delivery exists well beyond the hospital setting to include a wide variety of outpatient and community-based healthcare services. When these fall under the umbrella of a parent organization or as part of a health care system, the opportunity exists for ethics services to be programmed centrally to avoid duplication of effort. National or regional health care systems, for example, are a prime target for the consolidation of education and policy development and for coordination of ethics consultation across settings.

Table 3.1. Features, advantages, and disadvantages of various clinical ethics consultation models

Model	Features	Advantages	Disadvantages
Clinical ethics committee	Provides advice on policy Provides advice on patient cases involving ethical issues Required for accreditation in some jurisdictions Usually professionals from various disciplines May include community members Often use dispute resolution techniques Requires endorsement of institutional leadership to function well May provide advice as needed in the moment May review cases retroactively to assess process and outcome, like a Morbidity and Mortality (M & M) conference	Provides multiple perspectives on value-laden issues Draws on knowledge from multiple disciplines	May be difficult to meet in emergent situations Members may try to second guess decisions of clinical care team Members may be susceptible to "group think" Role confusion between individuals' usual responsibilities and role on ethics committee May be overwhelming to patient and family to meet with entire committee May be viewed as dictatorial
	Involves small number of individuals compared to full committee, but more than individual consultant	May be subset of individuals from full ethics committee Less intimidating to providers, patients, families than full committee More flexibility compared to a full committee model May include ad hoc members as needed	Fewer perspectives available for discussion
Individual ethics consultant	Usually, one person or a unit of several people, each of whom deals with specific types of cases or specific institutional sites Often use dispute resolution techniques Modeled on practice of professional consultation Requires knowledge of bioethics, some clinical knowledge, skill at moral reasoning, ability to build consensus	Facilitates communication in emergent situations May provide input into institutional policy and provide staff education Available to meet on individual as-needed basis with providers, patient, family members	Bias because one perspective Potential for burnout if inadequately staffed in relation to institutional demands "Mission creep" from care team to ethicist or boundary crossing by ethicist may be perceived as challenging physician authority Budgetary issues if paid employee Sustainability issue if ethicists are volunteers Requires greater level of expertise than individuals on committee because no additional input into recommendations

R e m o t e clinical eth- ics support	May take any of various forms, e.g., phone, email, listserv, ethicist-committee communication, direct ethicist-patient-family communication	Depending on specific approach: May be cost efficient May improve communication	Depending on specific approach: May require investment in technology and technical support Communication challenges Difficulty accessing medical records May require advance planning of meetings Potential confidentiality issues Inadequate exchange of important details due to privacy and confidentiality concerns
S y s t e m models	Train the trainer model Local capacity-building Circuit riding Consolidated accountability	Provides satellite hospitals with mechanism for ethics consultation Can build local capacity, with level depending on model used	Depending on model adopted: Time and financial investments vary Challenges assessing level of satellite ethicists' competence Possible ethicist burnout Possible clinician frustration due to multiple demands on ethicist

References

Agich GJ and Youngner SJ. 1991. "For Experts Only? Access to Hospital Ethics Committees." Hastings Center Report 21 (September-October), 17-25.

Agich GJ. 2005. "What Kind of Doing is Ethics Consultation?" Theoretical Medicine and Bioethics 26 (1): 7-24. Agich GJ. 2009. "Clinical Ethics as Practice." Journal International de Bioéthique 20(4), 15-24.

American Society for Bioethics and Humanities. (2024). Core Competencies for HealthcareEthicsConsultants,3rd ed draft. https://asbh.org/uploads/about/2024/Core Competencies 3rd edition for review.pdf

American Society for Bioethics and Humanities (ASBH) Clinical Ethics Task Force. (2009). Improving Competencies in Clinical Ethics Consultation: An Education Guide. Glenville, IL: American Society for Bioethics and Humanities.

Beauchamp TL, Childress JF. (2019). Principles of biomedical ethics. 8th Edition. Oxford University Press.

Buchanan, C.A., Bester, J.C., Bruno, B., Delany, C., Kennedy, K.O., Koogler, T., Sederstrom, N.O., & Weise, K.L. (2019). Pediatric ethics consultation: Practical considerations for the clinical ethics consultant. Journal of Clinical Ethics, 30(3), 270-283.

Delany C, Feldman S, Kameniar B, et al. (2025). Critical dialogue method of ethics consultation: making clinical ethics facilitation visible and accessible. Journal of Medical Ethics 51:10-16.

De Panfilis, L., Magelssen, M., Constantini, M., Ghirotto, L., Artioli, G., Turola, E., & Perin, M. (2022). Research, education, ethics consultation: Evaluating a bioethics unit in an oncological research hospital. BMC Medical Ethics, 23(133), doi: 10.1186/s12910-022-00863-z

Firn J, O'Neil T. (2020). The role of self-care in clinical ethics consultation: Clinical ethicists' risk for burnout, potential harms, and what ethicists can do. Journal of Clinical Ethics, 31(1), 48-59. https://doi.org/10.1086/

JCE2020311048.

- Fournier V, Rari E, Farde R, Neitzke G, Pegoraro R, Newson AJ. (2009). Clinical ethics consultation in Europe: A comparative and ethical review of the role of patients. Clinical Ethics, 4(3), 131-138. https://doi.org/10.1258/ce.2009.009.
- Fox, E., Bottrell, M.M., et al. (2010). IntegratedEthics: An Innovative Program to Improve Ethics Quality in HealthCare. The Innovation Journal: The Public Sector Innovation Journal, Vol. 15(2), article 8.
- Fox, MD, McGee G, Caplan A. (1998). Paradigms for clinical ethics consultation practice. Cambridge Quarterly of Healthcare Ethics, 7(3), 308-314. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0963180198703111.
- Fox, E., Danis, M., Tarzian, A.J., Duke, C.C., 2022. Ethics consultation in US hospitals: a national follow-up study. The American Journal of Bioethics 22, 5–18.
- Gramelspacher GP. (1991). Institutional ethics committees and case consultation: Is there a role? Issues in Law and Medicine, 7(1), 73-82.
- Haltaufderheide, J., Gather, J., Juckel, G., Schildmann, J., & Vollmann, J. (2021). Types of ethical problems and expertise in clinical ethics consultation in psychiatry—Insights from a qualitative empirical ethics study. Frontiers in Psychiatry, 12, 558795. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.558795
- Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations. (1992), Accreditation manual for hospitals. Oakbrook Terrace, IL: Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations.
- Jonsen AR, Siegler M, Winslade WJ. (2021). Clinical ethics: A practical approach to ethical decisions in clinical medicine, 9th EditionF. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Kuhumba, S.K., Sævareid, T.J.L., Mhando, N.E., Molewijk, A.C. (2025). Responding to Moral Challenges in Clinical Practice: A Qualitative Assessment of Clinical Ethics Support Needs at Three Tanzanian Hospitals. HEC Forum. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10730-025-09547-8
- Löbbing, T., Carvalho Fernando, S., Driessen, M., Schulz, M., Behrens, J., & Kobert, K.K.B. (2019). Clinical ethics consultations in psychiatric compared to non-psychiatric medical settings: Characteristics and outcomes. Heliyon, 5(2019), e01192. doi: 10.1016/heliyon.2019.e01192
- Lyren, A., & Ford, P.J. (2007). Special considerations for clinical ethics consultation in pediatrics: Pediatric care provider as advocate. Clinical Pediatrics, 46(9), 771-776.
- Moodley, K., Kabanda, S. M., Kleinsmidt, A., & Obasa, A. E. (2021). COVID-19 underscores the important role of Clinical Ethics Committees in Africa [Article]. BMC medical ethics, 22(1), Article 131. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12910-021-00696-2
- Moodley, K., Kabanda, S. M., Soldaat, L., Kleinsmidt, A., Obasa, A. E., & Kling, S. (2020). Clinical Ethics Committees in Africa: lost in the shadow of RECs/IRBs? BMC Med Ethics, 21(1), 115-115. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12910-020-00559-2
- Nanyonga, M. M., Kutyabami, P., Kituuka, O., & Sewankambo, N. K. (2024). Exploration of clinical ethics consultation in Uganda: a case study of Uganda Cancer Institute. BMC medical ethics, 25(1), 87. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12910-024-01085-1
- Orzechowski M, Schochow M, Steger F. (2020). Clinical ethics consultation in the transition countries of Central and Eastern Europe. Science and Engineering Ethics, 26, 833-850. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11948-019-00141-z.
- Owen, J.W. (2001). Clinical ethics support in the UK: A review of the current position and likely development. http://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk/sites/files/nuffield/publication/Clinical_Ethics_ Support%20March%20 2001.pdf
- Ray K. (2016). Burnout and self-care for bioethicists [blog]. Bioethics Today, June 16. https://bioethicstoday.org/blog/burnout-and-self-care-for-bioethicists/#. Accessed September 15, 2024.
- Robinson EM, Cadge W, Erler K, Brackett S, Bandini J, Cist A, Cremens MC, Krakauer EL, Courtwright AM.

(2017). Structure, operation, and experience of clinical ethics consultation 2007-2013: A report from the Massachusetts General Hospital Optimum Care Committee. Journal of Clinical Ethics, 28(2), 137-152. https://doi.org/10.1086/JCE2017282137.

Soto, H., & Takimoto, Y. (2023). Clinical ethics problems in psychiatry and the need for clinical ethics consultation in Japan: A cross-sectional study. Psychiatry & Clinical Neurosciences Reports, 2023(2)m e86. doi: 10.1002/pcn5.86.

Steinkamp N, Gordijn B. Ethical case deliberation on the ward. A comparison of four methods. Med Health Care Philos 2003;6:235–46

Walker, M.U., 1993. Keeping moral space open: New images of ethics consulting. The Hastings Center Report, 23(2), pp.33–40. Available at: https://doi.org/10.2307/3562818t

Weaver, M.S., Sharma, S., & Walter, J.K. (2023). Pediatric ethics consultation services, scope, and staffing. Pediatrics, 151(3), e2022058999.



Chapter 4: Clinical ethics policy creation and review at healthcare institutions

Professional healthcare institutions are guided by clear and easy-to-understand policies. Policies may be regarded as rules, guidelines, or articulations of best practices. (Procedures lay out steps to meet, follow, or adhere to policies.) There is no good reason for a hospital anywhere in the world not to have and use policies to guide practice and operations as regards ethical issues and challenges. To have and use ethics policies may be thought of as a component of quality assessment and improvement.

The importance of good policies cannot be overstated: "Hospital policies have the potential to influence the culture and practices of an entire institution, with significant consequences for patients, families and practitioners. Thus, the drive to ensure quality must expand to include all ethics services, including ethics policy review work" (Frolic and Drolet, 2013).

The creation and maintenance of institutional policies is a core component of the mission of clinical ethics services. Such policies serve several purposes:

- They make explicit institutional standards, and they signal how or that such standards cohere with universal or professional standards. Standards are needed to harmonize efforts to ensure clinical effort is in concert with best practices. The creation and revision of policies is also a tool to help clarify those standards and practices.
- Well-crafted policies guide and justify clinical practice. Once a standard has been identified, it is an aberration not to act in parallel with a corresponding policy. Failure to follow a policy is often cited as a sign that something has gone wrong.
- Similarly, in some jurisdictions, adherence to institutional policies is essential for public justification of actions that might be subject to litigation. Failure to follow an institutional policy is often regarded as blameworthy and can be dispositive in case of litigation.

Policy creation is one of what are widely agreed to be the three primary functions of a clinical ethics service, the others being education and case consultation. In successful institutions, these three are related: Challenging cases eliciting consultations might in the future be managed better if clinicians were guided by a good policy; policies and their goals and justifications can inform education and professional development; and such education can improve case consultations. Policy drafting itself raises ethical (Winkler, 2005). In conjunction with the pedagogic mission of the clinical ethics service, policies can stimulate and guide discussion, make clear the values that govern practice, and invite suggestions for improvement. It is for this reason that policies should be reviewed and as needed, revised regularly.

4.1. Establishing a clinical ethics committee

When establishing a Clinical Ethics Committee (CEC) it is important to create as much procedural clarity as possible. Accordingly, the authoritative bodies (e.g. hospital directors) agencies that create CECs should define the Committees' procedures and policies, if possible, before the Committees

are constituted. Each Committee should be assigned a mission statement which outlines its goals. Procedures for the recruitment/invitation of Committee members must be set out. The actual appointment of the chairperson and members must follow regulated, transparent procedures. Criteria for membership should be clear. Thus, if a committee is to represent various constituencies, these should be listed and the number of seats granted to each constituency made explicit. Typically, healthcare professionals (such as physicians, nurses and paramedics), bioethicists, clergy, health lawyers, behavioural scientists, social workers, patient advocates, administrators, laypersons and public officials are among the relevant categories represented. Gender balance and clear policies regarding management of Conflicts of Interests are essential aspects of the work of a committee.

UNESCO's "Bioethics Committees at Work: Procedures and Policies" is a useful guide (UNESCO, 2005). It must also be determined whether the members serve for as long as required by those who appointed them or, instead, for fixed terms. If the terms are not fixed, then it must be determined whether the terms should be staggered or coterminous and how long they should be. Related to this is the matter of removal. It should also be clear in what circumstances a member can be taken off the committee and for which causes (e.g. malfeasance, incompetence, incapacity, failure to be present). At the same time, it should be clearly stated that no one can be expelled from a CEC only because of providing ethical opinions that are against the institution's policies.

It must also be clear how a committee's agenda is to be set. Is the Committee assigned problems by e.g. the Board of Directors of the Hospital? Can it construct its own agenda? Is it dependent on clinicians who bring issues? Can patients or their family members bring cases? Can it pick and choose among these issues, selecting the most salient ones or those it considers ripe for decision? Or must it respond to whatever is asked of it? These considerations may be decisive in determining the nature and importance of the Committee's work.

Even if Committee meetings are private, the question remains as to how they should be conducted. One path would be to follow a particular set of rules of procedure such as those of UNESCO's International Bioethics Committee (see Appendix I). The rules of procedure should be set out clearly, before the game is played so to speak, and they should be familiar to all the participants. Particular issues should be addressed in an orderly fashion and votes would reveal exactly the extent of support and opposition on specific issues. An alternative path would be to proceed informally and seek consensus. Consensus is typically defended as friendlier and easier to follow than a set of formal rules, but sometimes less transparent.

Whatever path is taken, records must be kept in a secure fashion. The question as to who has access to these records and under what circumstances is important. Firstly, this may affect the Committee's deliberations. Fear of exposure may affect discussion and voting. A member willing to take an unpopular position behind closed doors may be dissuaded by the fear that his or her position may shortly be made public. Secondly, there are the twin issues of confidentiality of information and privacy of persons involved. Morally and legally, there are obligations to respect confidentiality and privacy. When CECs do not discuss identifiable individual cases and 'only' contribute to policy-development, meetings or minutes should be made publicly available.

In summary, there are a number of issues that need to be taken into account when establishing sound procedures (see box 4.1).

members. See example in box 2.16.

- 1. Appoint the chairperson and all the members
- 2. Appoint members with diverse specialties and expertise creating gender and professional balance
- 3. Determine the tenure and terms of all appointments
- 4. Review the Committee's form, i.e. its mandate, purpose, and functions
- 5. Establish an annual budget
- 6. Create a policy that identifies who may access the Committee, and whether certain issues must be brought before it for review
- 7. Establish a policy regarding the presence and participation of others, including patients and families
- 8. Determine the procedures for documenting, retaining custody of, and accessing the Committee's confidential files and records
- 9. Establish mechanisms to protect persons' privacy and to maintain and secure their confidential information
- 10. Review periodically the Committee's mandate and determine if it should be extended to include additional functions
- 11. Determine if and how the media and the public will be informed of the Committee's activities: advising, recommending or decision-making
- 12. Establish a bioethics self-education program for present and future chairpersons and members

Box 4.1. Establishing procedures and policies for clinical ethics committees

4.2. Preparing a policy "Census"

It is assumed here that an institution willing thus to commit to the professionalization of an ethics service will also commit resources – money, staff time, and administrative support – to the effort. If one has resources to build and operate a hospital, then one usually has resources to ensure a basic ethics service.

Those conducting such initiatives must themselves be competent or in the process of acquiring competence in clinical ethics.

An institution with no ethics policies might begin with an ethics census during which the following is learned:

- Which and what kinds of clinical cases tend to feature in uncertainty, conflict, or dissent?
- What policies do other institutions have?
- Which new technologies constitute a challenge for clinicians contemplating appropriate use of the technologies?

With that, a short list of essential policies can be generated, and individuals and/or teams can begin to draft ethics policies. An institution that already has ethics policies should consider a similar review or census periodically.

4.3. Drafting ethics policies

Policies should be thorough, transparent, and easy to read (helsedirektoratet, 2009). This can help

ensure relevance and effectiveness. Policies to guide the operation of the ethics service itself are a good place to signal the importance of addressing emerging ethical challenges. For instance, though there are many kinds of ethics policies, one could argue that the need for policies to address the use of Artificial Intelligence is urgent.

Those who draft policies must be familiar with issues and standards in bioethics; any related laws and professional standards; and likely sources of discordance. For instance, a policy on abortion must be applied, or might not be, in light of local or national laws.

Ethics policy documents need to parallel or cohere with other institutional policies regarding structure and format, length, and institutional remit or governance.

It is often appropriate for ethics policies to state prominently what values they seek to serve. For instance, a policy on valid or informed consent for clinical treatment might include statements about the importance of valid consent as a right, and the institution's commitment to protecting that right. Likewise, privacy and confidentiality.

Policy drafters should have knowledge of clinical cases that raise ethical issues. Policies offer support for managing such cases. Failure to address or resolve ethical issues in healthcare settings can lead to moral distress, which may result in prolonged psychological, relational, and professional consequences for healthcare workers (World Health Organization, Public Health England and partners, 2017)

4.4. Policy review

Facilities should establish mechanisms for the ongoing review and updating of policies. This process should be informed by feedback from clinical staff, patients, and other stakeholders, as appropriate. Policies should generally address the role of ethical deliberation, provide guidance for identifying and managing moral distress in healthcare workers, and support the integration of clinical ethics education across all levels of staff. Policies are excellent sources of and levers for interactive education.

Ethics policies should be reviewed annually, biennially, or triennially. Some institutions find it effective to have subcommittees of the full ethics committee undertake an initial review and update before review and approval by the full committee.

Some institutions include in policies citations to the nursing and medical literatures and salient laws or guidance from professional societies; some do not. At the least, those responsible for reviewing ethics policies must have basic familiarity with the applicable literature.

Policy review constitutes an opportunity to identify and include experts not regularly associated with an ethics service. For instance, though an ethics service might include no neurologists or neurosurgeons, any policy on death by neurological criteria (or "brain death"), should be scrutinized by colleagues with adequate expertise.

Good governance of clinical ethics requires engaging all levels of hospital staff, as the credibility and utility of clinical ethics standards depends on the actions of many if not all employees. For example, respecting patients' privacy and confidentiality involves not only physicians and nurses. Other staff members in security, housekeeping, administration and so on also have access to sensitive information through their employment activities or incidental exposure. All employees, no matter their role,

have a duty to safeguard personal health information. They must be educated about such responsibilities. The importance of education and capacity building is addressed in chapter 2.

4.5. Public availability and transparency

There are good reasons for an institution's ethics policies to be freely and publicly available. Such transparency signals core values and might increase and sustain trust in the institution by those who need its services. Policies might be improved by comments from laypeople who are able to review them. Some institutions' websites contain policies (England, n.d.). The Royal Wolverhampton Hospital near Manchester shares 39 detailed policies, several of which address ethical issues, including "Withdrawing or Withholding Clinically Assisted Nutrition and Hydration in Adult Patients Who Lack Capacity to Consent to Treatment" (NHS Trust, n.d.).

It is sometimes suggested that if policies are easily available to the public they will enable, facilitate, or inspire hostile lawyers to find ways to document that an institution has not followed its own guidelines, thus increasing liability. Although it is true that failure to adhere to one's own policies can affect litigation – see Section 4.6 – it is cynical to suggest the solution is to hide policies.

Once it is acknowledged that good policies improve treatment and operations, it is an obligation of institutions to follow their own policies. That is the correct stance: draft good policies and follow them. Hiding policies or making them difficult to find is a stratagem that undermines the goal of good policies in the first place.

In addition, many jurisdictions' public records laws require that tax-supported health care organizations must make all policies freely available.

4.6. Compliance and liability

In many jurisdictions, hospital accrediting and oversight organisations develop standards and require adherence to them if an institution is to enjoy accreditation. Similarly, many WHO Member States have enacted laws governing privacy and confidentiality, valid consent, access to care, and other aspects of hospital operations. Compliance with such standards and laws is generally uncontroversial. Yet the task of ensuring compliance is widely regarded as appropriate for compliance offices—not ethics services.

There are several reasons why ethics services should not have a compliance function. Chief among them is that ethics services and associated committees evolved and function best if they are not viewed as an adjunct to institutional "law enforcement." Furthermore, compliance officers have a fiduciary duty primarily to the institution, whereas ethics services are to serve patients and their caregivers. For this reason, compliance officers, risk managers, and lawyers may be observers to – but ought not serve in a regular or voting capacity on – ethics committees. To allow that role could be to put them in a professional conflict of commitment.

As above, failure to follow institutional policies can affect litigation. For instance, the California Hospital Association provides a case study in which an institution failed to follow its own policy:

An example of a hospital P&P [policy and procedure] that went awry, and resulted in a lawsuit and hospital liability, was an emergency department P&P that required every patient to be evaluated by a "triage nurse" and seen by an "emergency physician" prior to discharge. A particular patient [who]

subsequently died was seen by a physician, but he was not a specialist in emergency medicine. The court determined that the hospital was negligent because it didn't follow its own policy and was therefore liable for the patient's injuries. The lesson here is to choose the words carefully. This hospital may have avoided liability by indicating each patient would be triaged by a "qualified health care professional" and evaluated by a "licensed and credentialed member of the medical staff" (California Hospital Association, 2020).

The lesson, of course, is that if we are to take policies seriously, we must be aware of them and act as they prescribe. This can be a significant institutional challenge – there are, after all, many and sometimes complex policies in modern hospitals and clinics. The only credible and professional stance is to have good policies and adhere to them.

References:

California Hospital Association, 2020. FAQs on Writing Hospital Policies and Procedures, 2020.

England, N.H.S., n.d. NHS England » Our policies and procedures. URL https://www.england.nhs.uk/contact-us/pub-scheme/pol-proc/ (accessed 5.22.25).

Frolic, A.N., Drolet, K., 2013. Ethics policy review: a case study in quality improvement. Journal of medical ethics 39, 98–103.

helsedirektoratet, 2009. Decision-making processes in the limitation of life-prolonging treatment.

Policies, procedures and frameworks,. The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust. URL https://royalwolverhampton.nhs.uk/about-our-trust/policies-procedures-and-frameworks/ (accessed 5.22.25).

UNESCO, 2005. Bioethics Committees at Work: Procedures and Policies.

Winkler, E.C., 2005. The ethics of policy writing: how should hospitals deal with moral disagreement about controversial medical practices? Journal of Medical Ethics 31, 559–566.

World Health Organization, Public Health England and partners, 2017. Health Emergency and Disaster Risk Management ETHICS.

Chapter 5: National/state-level policy making and governance for clinical ethics

5.1. Supervening clinical ethics standards

Clinical ethics primarily focuses on the ethical aspects of providing healthcare to individual patients by HCWs. However, these clinical relationships occur within a complex, multi-stakeholder environment, involving diverse responsibilities and interests. Policies that influence clinical ethics could originate from inside the healthcare facilities and institutions or could be from a higher-level authority for example from local or national health authorities. In any case, policies and governance arrangements at the macro (national) and meso (institutional) levels significantly influence the ethical aspects of interactions within clinical encounters at the micro (individual) level. Therefore, improving the moral atmosphere for medical practice at the point of delivery of healthcare services in healthcare facilities such as hospitals or community health centers requires effective policymaking and planning at higher levels.

In recent decades, bioethicists have worked to establish ethical standards at various levels of specificity to address the increasingly complex healthcare system. For example, general clinical ethics standards—such as the requirement for healthcare workers to obtain valid informed consent from patients or their surrogate decision-makers—can be further specified for particular cases or areas to provide more action-guiding direction. This is especially relevant in situations where, for instance, parents refuse to consent to a life-saving treatment for their child. While some well-established ethical norms, like the obligation to respect patient confidentiality, are often reinforced through criminal law, others may be upheld through different legal mechanisms, including regulations, administrative law, or even soft law instruments such as professional guidelines.

The development of binding clinical ethics standards with an acceptable level of specificity is a crucial step toward ensuring adherence to ethical values in clinical practice. For example, in countries where various assisted reproductive services are offered, clear laws, regulations, and policies are needed to address ethically complex issues—such as the right of resulting children to know their genetic parents, and the commercialization of gametes and surrogacy services. Such regulatory clarity helps create a clinical environment in which both service recipients and providers can collaborate without experiencing moral distress. A more sophisticated legal and regulatory framework can also clarify the rights of healthcare workers (HCWs), including the right to conscientiously object to certain legally permitted practices. Similarly, ethical end-of-life decision-making requires a transparent legal context. Evidence shows that an insufficient or vague legal framework—particularly in the absence of clear policies on Do-Not-Resuscitate (DNR) orders—can lead to ethically problematic practices such as "slow codes." These practices not only impose significant moral distress on HCWs but also risk eroding public trust in the healthcare system(Chung and Zhong, 2025).

Despite the significance of having a well-developed system of medical law to support efficient clinical ethics decision-making, laws and regulations alone are often insufficient. In real-world clinical practice, more complex cases arise that require context-specific interpretation. Clinical ethics ser-

vices in healthcare facilities play a vital role in interpreting relevant laws and regulations within the particular circumstances of each case to determine the ethically appropriate course of action. Even when the morally preferable choice is evident, healthcare workers may face moral hazards that discourage them from acting accordingly—such as conflicts of interest, whether financial or non-financial, or practicing defensively due to fear of litigation. For example, empirical evidence demonstrates that physicians' fear of legal litigation, as well as unclear legal requirements regarding the necessity of obtaining informed consent, is one of the major reasons contributing to delays in administering tissue plasminogen activator (tPA) to patients presenting with acute ischemic stroke(Comer et al., 2019). This example illustrates that even laws and regulations intended to promote ethical medical practice can create challenges if they are not well-aligned with the broader policy context and clinical realities. It highlights the importance of thoughtful, context-sensitive policymaking and utilizing of effective governance tools and implementation strategies in clinical ethics.

Policymaking, governance and implementation, and are complex constructs that are closely linked to the concepts of stewardship and leadership, which take place within a specific socio-political environment (Barbazza and Tello, 2014). There are two main implications for good governance related to clinical ethics. The first implication illustrates that good governance of healthcare systems requires giving enough attention to a set of substantive ethical values such as equity, well-being and respect, as well as procedural values like transparency, accountability, inclusion and participation. The second and more specific implication requires the availability of necessary elements such as laws, regulations, and guidelines, as well as educational and institutional infrastructures to specify and balance relevant ethical standards in specific situations. Additionally, efficient implementation mechanisms, including monitoring, oversight, and accreditation tools, are essential.

The healthcare system in each country is part of its broader social services and is influenced by political, economic, and cultural factors. Consequently, the governance of the health system, including its clinical ethics dimension, is shaped by the country's overall governance structure. Key factors such as the role of social services versus the free market, societal values, literacy rates, dominant and competing belief systems, corruption levels, health financing models, and economic conditions significantly impact the health system. Therefore, the clinical ethics governance of a specific context cannot be analyzed in isolation from these high-level factors.

Whilst it is possible to consider more specific levels for the governance of the health system, this chapter focuses on the national/state level. We acknowledge that sub-levels may exist within each. For example, in many countries, mediating bodies, such as provincial or city health authorities, operate between central or federal government agencies e.g., ministries of health on the one hand and healthcare institutions on the other hand. To avoid unnecessary complexity and repetition, this guidance treats all authorities above the health institution level as supervening policies.

Maintaining ethical standards in clinical practice is a shared responsibility among healthcare providers, institutions, regulatory bodies, and society at large. Only through collective effort, vigilance, and effective monitoring can we ensure that healthcare remains true to its fundamental ethical principles. As we progress, there is a need to build ample ethical awareness, person-centric approaches, and integration of moral values in the delivery of clinical services, follow-up, and eventual translation for the public good.

5.2. High-level policymaking for clinical ethics

High-level health authorities and regulators e.g., those at the national level, primarily ministries of health or national healthcare professional licensing organizations in many courtiers, play a critical role in ensuring that specified ethical standards are available and efficiently practiced within the country's healthcare system. These standards provide general guidance for various situations encountered by stakeholders in clinical practice and should be verified and legally accepted. Ethical standards for clinical practice can be embedded at different levels of the national legal and regulatory framework. For instance, fundamental issues like confidentiality and informed consent may be upheld by federal laws, or statutes. Additionally, patients' rights and healthcare workers' moral obligations in specific clinical situations can be supported or enforced through mechanisms other than laws, such as professional organizations or associations.

Entities other than ministries of health and governments, such as professional organizations, may establish ethical standards for their members, with varying enforceability, and specificity. High-level health authorities should adopt a systematic approach to clinical ethics to ensure that these diverse bodies setting moral norms for the health system are well-coordinated. This approach would help ensure that the standards remain updated, are effectively tailored to meet the evolving needs of the medical sector, and that the general messages of various guiding documents are coherent and consistent. Achieving an acceptable level of coordination could typically be achieved by strategic planning such as development of a national plans for promoting ethics in clinical settings. Such a plan should outline specific goals, strategies, programs, and activities necessary to advance clinical ethics effectively (Parsapour et al., 2021).

The dynamic and rapidly evolving landscape of technological developments in health necessitates the establishment of resilient and adaptive ethical standards. For instance, the increased use of information technologies in healthcare—such as electronic medical records and telehealth platforms, which gained widespread adoption during the COVID-19 pandemic—underscores this need. Furthermore, the growing integration of artificial intelligence, including smart listening and documentation tools for medical consultations, as well as AI-powered diagnostic and therapeutic systems, illustrates the complexity and novelty of the ethical challenges involved. Recent advancements in genetic and biotechnologies, moving toward increasingly individualized medicine and many other technological developments call for responsive and forward-looking ethical frameworks capable of addressing emerging and multifaceted issues in a timely and robust manner.

The need for clear and efficient clinical ethics standards is not limited to addressing new technological advancements or health emergencies; the evolving nature of clinical healthcare frequently requires the development of new, context-specific moral norms and ethical guidelines for routine medical practice. For example, in a country initiating an organ transplantation program based on donation after cardiac death (DCD), it becomes essential to introduce new ethical guidelines to ensure clarity, transparency, and public trust. Similarly, even in countries where DCD is already practiced, the adoption of new techniques—such as thoracic normothermic regional perfusion (TA-NRP) for in-situ organ preservation—necessitates updated ethical frameworks to address emerging concerns (Wall et al., 2022). Health authorities and governing bodies should establish mechanisms to continuously monitor sources of moral challenges, questions, and distress among diverse stakeholders—including

healthcare workers, health facility administrators, policymakers, patients, and their families. These mechanisms should enable timely responses through the provision of general or context-specific guidance, updates to clinical protocols, revisions of ethical guidelines, or amendments to relevant regulations and laws. Moreover, since ethical challenges often arise beyond the scope of existing frameworks, health governance systems must ensure that structures are in place to address specific ethical questions in clinical settings, supporting prompt and effective ethical decision-making—as elaborated in Chapter 3 of this guidance.

The systematic promotion of clinical ethics at the national level requires multiple interdependent pillars: policymaking, standard-setting, strategic planning, implementation, evaluation, monitoring, oversight, feedback mechanisms, education, and advocacy. Operating such a system necessitates both infrastructure and adequate resources. A key step is the establishment of responsible national bodies specifically mandated to coordinate and realize these pillars. Many countries have already created national ethics committees, bioethics committees (Köhler et al., 2020), and, in some cases, specialized bodies dedicated to clinical medical ethics are established in both HICs ("The Swedish National Council on Medical Ethics," n.d.) and LMICs (Soleimani et al., 2024). However, their roles, procedures, standard operating protocols (SOPs), and actual impact can vary significantly across different contexts. While questions remain regarding the tangible influence of these bodies on clinical ethics discourse, their establishment appears to be a necessary and strategic move. Therefore, countries should consider investing in these high-level structures and ensure that they function in alignment with the principles of ethical governance (Moodley et al., 2021). Such national bodies could play either an advisory role—providing guidance to law-making or regulatory bodies such as national or state parliaments—or be granted a regulatory function that allows them to develop and approve binding guidelines.

Setting ethical standards for a country requires considering procedural ethical values (Moon et al., 2022). Therefore, national policymaking and [clinical] ethics bodies must be highly transparent. Transparency requires that the composition of bodies responsible for deciding or approving clinical ethics guidelines at the national or regional level be publicly disclosed. Another key implication of transparency is that the public should be informed about the underlying reasons, moral justifications, and any empirical evidence that guided the decision-making process. For example, if a national clinical ethics body advises the government to shift from an opt-in to an opt-out organ donation system—on the grounds that it may increase the availability of transplantable organs—then, in addition to citing relevant ethical values such as autonomy, the committee should also review and present any available empirical evidence supporting the assumption that such a policy change would lead to an increase in donations.

Transparency in this context is essential, as it lays the foundation for accountability by ensuring that all relevant parties remain answerable for the ethical and empirical bases of their recommendations. Accountability is another crucial procedural value, as it helps clarify the responsibilities of various players in clinical ethics governance. In high-stakes situations, such as allocating ICU beds or transplantable organs, accountability ensures decisions align with ethical standards and are not influenced by inappropriate interests.

Inclusion and participation are essential principles that require the engagement of diverse stakehold-

ers in the development of ethical standards and guidance. Maintaining public trust in the healthcare system is difficult—if not impossible—without ensuring meaningful participation of those most affected, especially the public. While involving NGOs is an important mechanism, it is crucial to ensure that these organizations genuinely represent the interests of affected communities. Moreover, the public and other key stakeholders should have adequate representation within NGOs and broader civil society organizations. Therefore, national health authorities should actively promote and encourage the institutionalization of groups such as patient advocacy organizations and medical professional associations to enable meaningful inclusion and participation. In parallel, public education—leveraging both mass and social media—can play a key role in raising awareness and fostering engagement by increasing literacy on basic health rights.

While vertical relationships between national clinical ethics policymakers and lower levels, such as institutional ones, are crucial, fostering horizontal relationships among active individuals and institutions, such as clinical ethics committees, is equally important. Establishing overarching mechanisms, such as a national network, platform, or association, could enhance communication, facilitate experience sharing, and promote collaboration across the clinical ethics landscape. Higher-level bodies, such as national clinical ethics committees, can play a critical role in establishing the relationships and platforms necessary to facilitate the formation of such networks.

National bodies can intervene by developing regulations, policies, and governing tools in areas such as managing conflicts of interest in healthcare, establishing accreditation and licensing mechanisms for example for clinical ethics consultation services, ensuring quality clinical ethics education, and ensuring sufficient clarity in laws dealing with medical liability systems. They can also provide ethics guidance on the use of AI tools, include ethical evaluation in health technology assessments (HTA), ensure the availability of patients' rights charters, and create clear ethics policies on end-of-life decision-making, including forgoing life-sustaining treatments, DNR orders, advance directives, voluntary assisted dying, and surrogate decision-making standards. Additionally, clear positions should be established on the role of families in clinical decision-making, priority setting and allocation of scarce resources, the rights and duties of healthcare workers, including the scope of conscientious objections for individuals and organizations and reporting child and elderly abuse.

5.3. Monitoring and oversight of clinical ethics

Clinical practice operates within a complex ecosystem where patient outcomes rely not only on the skills of individual healthcare providers but also on multiple interconnected factors, including infrastructure, facilities, staff, protocols, and procedures. These elements are further strengthened by robust systems of monitoring, oversight, and accreditation to ensure high-quality care and patient safety. While the ethical dimensions of healthcare interactions remain profound—encompassing ethical values and principles, it is the systematic implementation of oversight mechanisms that ensures these standards are consistently upheld. A monitoring and oversight mechanism helps with putting in place the right checks and balances in order to ensure better quality of the services that are provided to the patients. Monitoring and Oversight is an integral component of any clinical research involving human participants. Monitoring and oversight of ethics in clinical practice are carried out through various mechanisms that operate at different levels in the medical institutions such as appointed advisory boards or committees which are involved in reviewing hospital policies to

ensure that they are aligned with ethical standards and compliance with the regulations.

The relationship between healthcare providers and patients fundamentally relies on trust, which is reinforced through transparent oversight mechanisms. When patients know that healthcare facilities are subject to rigorous monitoring and must maintain strict accreditation standards, it enhances their confidence in the care they receive. Similarly, healthcare providers benefit from clear guidelines and standards that help them navigate complex ethical situations while ensuring their practice remains within accepted professional norms.

Monitoring and oversight are terms that are often used interchangeably. In general, they mean the same where monitoring usually refers to reviewing progress made from time to time keeping an eye and observing promptly or seeking reports and making suggestions for improvement. Close oversight may help in reviewing and identifying inconsistencies or inaccuracies that require correction. Since the margin of difference is not clear, the terms will be considered together in this document.

The significance of oversight extends far beyond individual patient encounters. Regulatory bodies and professional organizations establish and enforce standards of practice, creating accountability mechanisms that span the entire healthcare delivery system. These oversight structures help identify and address potential ethical breaches before they escalate into serious violations, from ensuring proper informed consent procedures to monitoring adherence to treatment protocols. It is important to have in place a structure and framework for guiding ethical care is provided to the patients in clinical practice. Box. 5.1. provides examples of regulatory instruments to establish and enforce standards of practice.

Acts, Rules and Regulations: There may be direct laws that govern the ethical conduct of clinical practice and therefore the clinician must be well versed with the laws of the land. Box 5.2 provides an example of a law in a HIC which mandates establishment of clinical ethics committees and services in certain hospitals(lovdata, 2021).

Inspections: There are due diligence processes in place conducted by regulatory authorities in order to ensure compliance with laws related to patient care in medical institutions. In case of any complaints or at random, they plan inspections to evaluate functioning, infrastructure and routine practices or to investigate for any malpractice, or allegations. They are also free to decide about needful restrictions and to take disciplinary actions as required to maintain the safety and rights of patients.

Audits: Regular audits and reviews of clinical practice are crucial tools in monitoring compliance with ethical standards. Audits examine whether clinical procedures are being conducted in line with ethical and legal guidelines and regulations, focusing on areas such as patient consent, data privacy, and equitable treatment. These reviews are not only useful for identifying ethical lapses but also for enhancing clinical practices through feedback and corrective actions.

Accreditation: Accreditation is one of the more sophisticated approaches that can be implemented as part of a multi-layered strategy to improve healthcare quality. It is usually carried out by external validation bodies that conduct regular assessments to ensure healthcare facilities meet predefined quality benchmarks. These accrediting bodies typically operate independently, though often with government recognition and support. Their assessments are based on a set of established standards, which can—and often do—include ethical considerations alongside clinical and operational criteria. There is a need to encourage harmonized accreditation initiatives at subnational, national, and international levels to establish clear and consistent ethical practices, while also respecting local values and cultural contexts. Box 5.3. provides an example of a hospital accreditation system that enforces establishment clinical ethics committees in a LMIC.

Box. 5.1. Examples of regulatory instruments to establish and enforce ethical standards in healthcare practice

In Norway, §2-4a of the Specialist Health Services Act requires all health trusts to establish a Clinical Ethics Committee (CEC), with other healthcare institutions also permitted to do so. These committees are tasked with supporting healthcare personnel in identifying and addressing ethical challenges in patient care and resource allocation. Upon request from healthcare professionals, patients, or—if aligned with the patient's wishes—their next of kin, the CEC must provide ethical advice on individual cases. The committees must be multidisciplinary, include a user representative, and ideally have expertise in medical ethics and health law. They are mandated to function independently and autonomously.

Box. 5.2. Overview of the Norwegian Law on Clinical Ethics Committees

Iran's Hospital Accreditation Program (HAP) was launched in 2010 as a government-mandated and publicly funded initiative. The development and revision of hospital accreditation standards are overseen by the Office for Healthcare Institutions' Accreditation within the Ministry of Health. In the fifth edition of the accreditation standards (2022), one of the three core pillars is the protection of patients' rights. The program requires all hospitals to explicitly inform healthcare recipients of their rights and mandates the display of the Iranian Patients' Rights Charter in all hospital wards, ensuring that patients and their families can easily access and understand it. Key components under this domain include informed consent, the right to file complaints, confidentiality and privacy, and the active role of clinical ethics committees in policy-making. The establishment of a Clinical Ethics Committee in every hospital is deemed essential for accreditation and is listed as one of the ten mandatory committees. These committees are expected to lead the planning and oversight of efforts to uphold patients' rights, helping to embed ethical standards into hospital governance and clinical practice(Moosavi et al., 2022) .

Box. 5.3. The status of clinical ethics in Iran hospital accreditation program

The oversight of ethical issues in clinical settings presents a range of complex challenges due to the nuanced nature of these situations. While robust oversight systems are essential, they face significant challenges that must be carefully navigated through. The interdisciplinary nature of clinical care complicates oversight, as ethical decision-making often requires input from multiple fields—such as medicine, nursing, social work, and law—each with its own ethical frameworks and priorities. Reconciling these diverse perspectives can be challenging.

Socio-economic, cultural, and religious considerations also play a significant role in the cotemporary diverse societies where different beliefs and value differences must be respected, adding further complexity to the oversight process. Healthcare ethics is not a one-size-fits-all proposition, with different cultural contexts having varying interpretations of what exactly constitutes ethical care, particularly in areas such as end-of-life decisions. Oversight bodies must be sensitive to these differences and socio-cultural contexts, poverty and other such considerations while still maintaining universal ethical principles that ensure quality care for all patients.

Evolving ethical standards, driven by advances in medical technology and shifting societal values, also make it difficult to maintain consistent oversight, as what was deemed ethical practice a decade ago may now be viewed differently. Emerging technologies pose novel ethical dilemmas that are often beyond the scope of traditional oversight mechanisms. The advent of artificial intelligence, big data analytics, and telemedicine, for instance, brings new ethical questions about data privacy, consent, and the potential dehumanization of care. These areas require updated ethical guidelines and oversight strategies to ensure that technology is used ethically in clinical practice.

Resource constraints pose another significant challenge to effective oversight. Many healthcare institutions, especially in resource-limited settings, may lack the necessary personnel or funding to implement comprehensive ethical oversight mechanisms. This can lead to underreporting of ethical violations or inadequate follow-up on ethical concerns, potentially compromising patient care quality. The capacity to undertake monitoring and oversight is limited in medical institutions. Setting up a robust framework would require adequate manpower, resources, training, cooperation, and coordination between stakeholders.

Monitoring and oversight can cause tension since in general no one would like to be observed and told what to do. This may restrict their freedom of choice and decision-making in clinical practice. There is difficulty in quantifying the quality of ethical decision-making adds to the challenge. Unlike clinical outcomes or financial metrics, there are no clear metrics for assessing ethical decisions, making it harder to develop standardized systems for monitoring and oversight.

Conflicts of interest also complicate ethical oversight. Healthcare providers and institutions may face situations where financial or other personal interests come into play, potentially influencing clinical decisions. Effective monitoring systems must be capable of identifying and managing these conflicts to avoid compromising patient care.

References

- Barbazza, E., Tello, J.E., 2014. A review of health governance: definitions, dimensions and tools to govern. Health policy 116, 1–11.
- Chung, R.Y., Zhong, W., 2025. The moral burden of 'slow code' resuscitation in Hong Kong and its implications for advance medical decision legislation. Hong Kong Med J 31.
- Comer, A.R., Damush, T.M., Torke, A.M., Williams, L.S., 2019. The role of informed consent for thrombolysis in acute ischemic stroke. The Journal of Clinical Ethics 30, 338–346.
- Köhler, J., Reis, A.A., Saxena, A., 2020. A survey of national ethics and bioethics committees. Bulletin of the World Health Organization 99, 138.
- lovdata, 2021. Amendment Act to the Health Personnel Act, etc. [WWW Document]. URL https://lovdata.no/dokument/LTI/lov/2021-05-07-31 (accessed 5.22.25).
- Moodley, K., Kabanda, S.M., Kleinsmidt, A., Obasa, A.E., 2021. COVID-19 underscores the important role of Clinical Ethics Committees in Africa. BMC Medical Ethics 22, 1–9.
- Moon, S., Armstrong, J., Hutler, B., Upshur, R., Katz, R., Atuire, C., Bhan, A., Emanuel, E., Faden, R., Ghimire, P., 2022. Governing the access to COVID-19 tools accelerator: towards greater participation, transparency, and accountability. The Lancet 399, 487–494.
- Moosavi, S., Solooki, M., Shamsi Gooshki, E., Parsapoor, A., 2022. Patient rights in the Iranian hospitals accreditation system: Explanation of challenges. Hayat 28, 243–258.
- Parsapour, A., Gooshki, E.S., Malekafzali, H., Zahedi, F., Larijani, B., 2021. The second strategic plan of medical ethics: a national report. Journal of medical ethics and history of medicine 14, 17.
- Soleimani, N., Bahmani, F., Parsapour, A., Larijani, B., Shamsi-Gooshki, E., 2024. Developing guidelines for ethical response to infectious disease outbreaks in Islamic Republic of Iran. Eastern Mediterranean Health Journal 30.
- The Swedish National Council on Medical Ethics [WWW Document], n.d. URL https://smer.se/en/about-the-

council/ (accessed 5.22.25).

Wall, A.E., Fiedler, A., Karp, S., Shah, A., Testa, G., 2022. Applying the ethical framework for donation after circulatory death to thoracic normothermic regional perfusion procedures. American Journal of Transplantation 22, 1311–1315.



Chapter 6: Global cooperation and coordination



6.1. Introduction

Clinical care traverses a multitude of areas and dimensions of life and community; this means that clinical ethics is intersectional and present in different levels - from very singular aspects of an encounter to global and international exchanges and arrangements. These 'upstream' arrangements may influence the way moral dilemmas appear in real life, clinical, situations. In this chapter we would like to highlight aspects of global cooperation and coordination in light of clinical care and the ethics it must involve and consider. There is considerable evidence that coordination and cooperation are also present and relevant at the international level among a range of stakeholders, including international professional organizations, patient organizations or bodies within the UN network.

Global bioethics standards have become a focal point in areas such as global public health ethics and global research ethics, particularly in response to challenges like pandemics and international research projects. Consequently, international organizations such as the WHO have been actively developing standards for research and public health that incorporate global perspectives.

The international/global understanding of clinical ethics, and consequently the development of international ethical instruments in this field, lags behind other areas such as research ethics and public health ethics. However, the global exchange of resources and information has also impacted clinical practice. Clinical care might rely on organ transplantation and exogenous biological components such as blood and tissues; this is an area circumscribed in significant and complex ethical issues. The ethical issues regarding the reliance on human tissues, blood, organs in clinical care get an added layer of complexity when borders are crossed. Moreover, the care of people who have migrated, work or study transiently in different places, or have been displaced should raise attention over ethical implications of clinical care in these situations. These developments can have ethical implications in clinical care on the global level with varied significance and impact.

During the 20th century, the provision of healthcare services gradually became a primary responsibility of individual states toward their citizens. As a result, issues such as equitable access to healthcare and universal health coverage are often addressed at the national level, even as concepts, like minimalist or maximalist cosmopolitan strategies and global health justice theories that try to expand moral responsibilities beyond the political geographic borders and try to provide ethical frameworks for equitable access to healthcare services at the global level, gain traction.

Broader policy frameworks that discuss ethical implications on the global level can aid and impact the delivery of care. In the previous chapter, this guidance explored how national, or state-level policies shape the implementation of ethical standards within clinical environments. This chapter will discuss potential avenues for international or global governance, cooperation, and coordination that can impact the ethical delivery of healthcare at the local level.

A range of governance tools can be employed to support the global governance of clinical ethics. These include communication platforms that link national bodies, such as national ethics, bioethics,

or CECs; strategies like international accreditation or oversight mechanisms; and the development and adoption of international standards, such as declarations, guidelines, treaties, and conventions. These tools aim to strengthen the implementation of ethical standards in clinical practice (World Health Organization, 2021a).

While this guidance provides examples of such tools in clinical ethics, it is worth noting that similar strategies have been developed and applied in other areas with some success, such as research ethics. For instance, the WHO's Global Benchmarking Tool (GBT) for evaluating national regulatory systems for medical products (World Health Organization, 2021b) demonstrates how international tools can improve global practices. In the domain of research ethics, the WHO's tool for benchmarking the oversight of health-related research involving human participants is another example of a global instrument designed to enhance ethics governance (World Health Organization, 2023).

Global health governance involves diverse organizations that can also be seen as key stakeholders in clinical ethics. United Nations agencies like WHO, UNESCO, and UNICEF and professional organizations such as the World Medical Association (WMA) and the International Council of Nurses (ICN), academic institutions and intellectual associations, international patient organizations and even private sector entities, including Artificial Intelligence (AI) and Information Technology (IT) companies, contribute to the global dialogue and actions impacting ethical dimensions. For example, the World Federation for Medical Education (WFME), as an international medical education organization which is in relation to national medical education accreditation bodies, could play a pivotal role. It could for instance advocate for the inclusion of clinical ethics content in medical education curricula ensuring that future healthcare professionals are equipped with the ethical competencies necessary to navigate complex dilemmas in clinical practice, promoting consistent and high-quality ethics education. This should be done in a way that considers and is mindful of the diversity and singularities around the globe. Organizations such as the ones just mentioned act as bridges among states by fostering collaboration and harmonizing efforts to address global and local ethical challenges.

Clinical ethics, as an applied branch of bioethics, has gradually evolved at different rates across various contexts. Despite its context dependency, the experiences of any one country can provide valuable insights to others, enhancing understanding of how multifaceted clinical ethics can be. While such information can be found in academic literature, it must be acknowledged that an epistemic imbalance in academic outputs is a prevailing reality. Hence, the importance of enabling and facilitating the construction of means for exchange and dialogue among diverse groups globally.

Epistemic injustice is evident by the underrepresentation of ethical perspectives from LMICs (low-and middle-income countries) and non-Western intellectual traditions. Addressing this imbalance is challenging due to infrastructural and fundamental socioeconomic factors, such as insufficient resources, the legacy of colonization, language barriers, and other structural oppressions. Nevertheless, collective action by various stakeholders can be important in preventing the reproduction and perpetuation of such injustice. For example, funding agencies in HICs (high income countries), international journals and publishers could create more opportunities and specific spaces to share diverse perspectives and facilitate the exchange of experiences. Encouraging publishers and journals to focus on these contexts can foster a deeper understanding of their challenges and promote a global dialogue on clinical ethics issues that better represents global diversity and singularities.

Verifying specific needs of diverse contexts so that targeted support can be developed together with the local authorities to build technical capacities in clinical ethics could be a pivotal step toward enhancing the global exchange of clinical ethics parameters and promoting its development worldwide.

6.2. Examples of areas for global cooperation and governance

6.2.1. Organ transplantation

The globalization of organ transplantation is driven by the international movement of both potential donors and recipients, as well as the cross-border transfer of transplantable organs. The legitimate transboundary transfer of transplantable organs has been practiced for decades. However, the illegal transfer of organs and organ trafficking has also been a persistent challenge in the field of organ transplantation. Legal frameworks governing organ transplantation vary significantly across countries. For example, in many nations, the purchase of organs is strictly prohibited by law and is practically impossible. In contrast, in some countries, paid organ transplantation occurs, whether legally or illegally. Furthermore, organ transplantation has significant human rights implications, particularly when it involves policies related to the use of organs from executed individuals in countries where the death penalty is legal.

Organ transplantation is one of the areas where "medical tourists" travel to other countries seeking treatment. It is also among the first areas of clinical ethics that WHO identified as a global concern (World Health Organization, 2021a). Transplantation tourism raises significant ethical concerns that require global oversight and governance. These include its impacts on the healthcare systems of both departure and destination countries, unequal access to post-operative care, the risk of exploitation, and the perpetuation of colonizing North-South dynamics.

Additionally, the growing population of migrants, including refugees, presents further challenges. Migrants are often marginalized within organ transplantation systems, which are typically designed to prioritize citizens. This can lead to insufficient attention to inter-nationality transplantation, resulting in the exclusion of migrants as organ recipients or donors. Without clear protective measures, there is also a heightened risk of exploiting migrant populations as organ donors. Addressing these issues requires ethical frameworks that ensure equitable and protective practices for all populations involved in organ transplantation, potentially through collaboration with other related organizations such as the UNHCR or the International Organization for Migration (IOM).

Transitioning from national or state-based organ donor pools to global or international-regional pools could offer a promising solution to the global organ shortage by increasing the possibility of HLA match, international paired donation and North-South exchanges in case of living related kidney transplantation(Minerva et al., 2019). This approach is now more feasible than ever, given advancements in the rapid and safe transfer of organs facilitated by increased access to air travel. However, this shift also raises environmental concerns, particularly regarding the carbon footprint associated with frequent air transport.

Developing international platforms and tools to establish an equitable and ethically justified global environment for organ transplantation requires the creation of legal and regulatory infrastructures that participating countries can agree upon. This includes the development of coherent and com-

patible regulations to address key ethical challenges such as organ trafficking, informed consent, criteria for organ allocation and prioritization, and agreements on definitions for compensation, incentivization, and commercialization, as well as criteria for death determination to uphold the "dead-donor rule."

There are few international tools available for organ transplantation governance. However, their specificity, binding capacity, potential for adoption, and level of implementation across various countries remain unclear. The Australia-New Zealand paired kidney program and the European network for kidney transplantation serve as case examples of bilateral and multilateral instruments. Probably the most well-known non-binding international document in this area is the Declaration of Istanbul on Organ Trafficking and Transplant Tourism, which was initially developed in 2008 and updated in 2019(Martin et al., 2019). In addition, the World Medical Association (WMA) has also played an important role in this context by adopting the "WMA Statement on Organ and Tissue Transplantation" in 2012 (updated in 2017) and the "Statement on Measures for the Prevention and Fight Against Transplant-Related Crimes" in 2020.

Given the significant human rights implications of organ transplantation, the United Nations General Assembly adopted Resolution 77/236 in 2022, which focuses on strengthening and promoting effective measures and international cooperation on organ donation and transplantation to prevent and combat trafficking in persons for the purpose of organ removal and trafficking in human organs.

Similarly, WHO and the World Health Assembly have adopted several resolutions to address these issues. These include WHA 40.13 (1987) on "Development of guiding principles for human organ transplants," WHA 42.5 (1989) on "Preventing the purchase and sale of human organs," WHA 44.25 (1991), WHA 57.18 (2004), and WHA 63.22 (2010) on "Human organ and tissue transplantation," as well as the Madrid Resolution on organ donation and transplantation (2011). For instance, WHA 57.18 calls on Member States to "establish effective national oversight of the procurement, processing, and transplantation of human cells, tissues, and organs, ensuring accountability and traceability of human material used for transplantation."

A more recent intervention occurred in May 2024, when WHO's Member States approved a new resolution on increasing the availability, ethical access, and oversight of the transplantation of human cells, tissues, and organs. The resolution urges WHO Member States "to establish, where appropriate, official international cooperation for the exchange of human cells, tissues and organs for transplant services, based on the principles of reciprocity and solidarity, as a means to facilitate universal access to transplantation therapies"; and encourages equitable, altruistic, voluntary and non-remunerated organ transplantation. The resolution highlights the global governance role of WHO by requesting the Director-General "to assist Member States, upon request, to strengthen their regulatory capacity to effectively oversee donation and transplantation practices".

A practical example of HIC-HIC pairing is the Trans-Tasman Australian and New Zealand Paired Kidney Exchange (ANZKX) program, which was established in 2019. A The program operates by matching donor-recipient pairs across HICs and LMICs. For instance, a recipient in a HIC who cannot find a compatible donor within their own country but has a willing donor, such as a partner with an incompatible blood type, could exchange a kidney. Simultaneously, this exchange enables a pair from an LMIC to receive a transplant along with the necessary post-operative care, which they would otherwise be unable to afford. In HICs, the primary obstacle to kidney transplantation is the shortage of organs from both living and deceased donors. In many LMICs, however, the major barrier is the inability to afford the procedure, particularly the cost of post-operative immunosuppressant drugs. While LMIC-LMIC or HIC-HIC pairings can be beneficial in finding compatible donors, LMIC-HIC pairings may offer more complementary advantages.

Box. 6.1. A proposal for expanding Paired Kidney Transplantation

6.2.2. Health emergencies in large populations

Large-scale health emergencies occur when a significant portion of the population faces a notable threat to their health. These emergencies can arise from various causes, including armed conflicts, natural disasters such as floods and earthquakes, or outbreaks of infectious diseases. Epidemics and pandemics, such as the COVID-19 pandemic, are among the most frequent examples of such emergencies. The COVID-19 pandemic highlighted the critical importance of international cooperation and governance in managing clinical responses, particularly when dealing with a newly emerging disease characterized by high levels of uncertainty. While public health responses are essential, effective international clinical responses also require coordination and governance.

International clinical ethics responses are a vital component of this coordination. For example, mechanisms to allocate scarce therapeutic and diagnostic tools, as well as personal protective equipment, have to be established. Neighbouring countries, in particular, may be called upon to assist each other by sharing resources such as ICU beds, ventilators, and oxygen tanks. International mechanisms, such as WHO guidelines, play a critical role in supporting these efforts. Some existing WHO guidelines, such as those for the Monitored Emergency Use of Unregistered and Investigational Interventions (MEURI)(World Health Organization, 2025a), include clinical ethics components. However, the development of more specific guidelines addressing micro-level clinical ethics issues could further assist countries in enhancing their pandemic responses.

In addition, ethical challenges at national, institutional, and micro levels—such as the off-label use of medicinal products, allocation of ICU facilities, and balancing healthcare workers' duty of care with their risk of harm—could be better addressed through international mechanisms for cooperation and governance on ethical issues. The issue of professional licensing also warrants attention in such situations. When the mobilization of healthcare professionals across borders is essential to support an impacted country, the availability of international mechanisms to recognize and accept medical licenses from other countries becomes crucial.

"Emergency use of unproven clinical interventions outside clinical trials – including "off-label" interventions – has surged during the COVID-19 pandemic, with unjustified, unconstrained use of unproven interventions, which raises serious ethical concerns. This document is intended to provide a reminder and an updated version of the ethical framework for emergency use of unproven clinical interventions outside clinical trials, the MEURI ethical framework, which is a collaborative project of WHO that began in 2014 and a normative product of WHO for its Member States".

Box. 6.2. WHO Guidelines for the Monitored Emergency Use of Unregistered and Investigational Interventions (MEURI)

6.2.3. Medical travel

Medical travel, also known as medical tourism, is an inherently international phenomenon with significant ethical implications, requiring international cooperation and governance to ensure its ethical practice. Medical travel "occurs when an individual travels from their home jurisdiction (for example, their country of residence) to another jurisdiction to access therapeutic interventions" (World Health Organization, 2019). The expanding medical travel market encompasses far more than organ transplantation. Increasingly, individuals travel abroad for various medical services, including assisted reproductive technologies, cosmetic procedures, and elective surgeries. Traditionally, such travel involved patients from HICs or affluent individuals from developing nations seeking care in HICs. However, a notable shift is occurring: a growing trend of health services being exported in the opposite direction, with some LMICs becoming primary destinations. While access to advanced, high-quality care remains a major driver of medical travel, other motivations include avoiding long waiting times, pursuing treatments that are legally or culturally restricted in one's home country—such as third-party gamete donation, commercial surrogacy, or voluntary assisted dying—and accessing investigational medical products not yet approved or available locally.

Despite other ethical concerns—such as the potential impact on public trust in the healthcare system of destination countries, challenges in obtaining informed consent, cultural competency requirements for healthcare workers (HCWs) in the destination country, issues with post-intervention care and follow-up, and questions of accountability and medical liability—the primary ethical issues surrounding medical tourism are related to equity. Empirical evidence highlights numerous ways in which medical tourism can restrict access to healthcare in destination countries. These include creating gaps in essential healthcare fields by diverting HCWs to areas that cater to medical travellers rather than local populations, a phenomenon known as "field migration." This shift can negatively affect the job satisfaction and technical competencies of HCWs. Additionally, medical travel often leads to resource shortages and longer waiting times for local patients, along with the possibility of discrimination against less advantaged individuals. Public health systems and primary healthcare can be weakened by redirecting investments toward expensive tertiary care facilities. This trend toward privatization can elevate healthcare costs, making services less accessible to local populations. It can also disrupt the geographical distribution of HCWs within countries, causing imbalances through "internal migration," and it may exacerbate vulnerabilities and illegal practices, such as organ trafficking.

Medical travel also presents ethical and legal challenges for patients' home countries. WMA issued a statement on the ethical aspects of medical tourism in 2018, which addresses some related ethical issues. Patients may return with altered expectations, which could strain local healthcare systems. Legal ambiguities surrounding medical errors, compensation, and litigation for treatments performed abroad add further complexity. Moreover, individuals who undergo procedures prohibited in their home countries, such as paid organ donation or commercial surrogacy, may face legal risks upon their return. Patient safety is another concern, particularly when patients seek unregulated or investigational treatments, such as stem-cell therapies, which may not be approved by their home country's regulatory agencies. These concerns underscore the need for comprehensive governance and ethical frameworks to address the multifaceted implications of medical tourism.

A range of regulatory and governance solutions could help mitigate the risks associated with med-

ical travel. These include establishing global equitable buying guidelines to ensure fair access to healthcare resources, implementing international standards and accreditation tools for monitoring and surveillance of medical travel activities, and adopting clear mechanisms for health data sharing between departure and destination countries. Medical travel destinations could consider imposing a medical tourism tax to support local healthcare systems. Additionally, regulatory frameworks could be designed to channel the expanded healthcare capacity in LMICs—resulting from increased private investment—into addressing pre-existing areas of shortage. Finally, the regulation and standardization of medical travel brokerage services could enhance transparency, fairness, and patient safety in this growing sector (Chen and Flood, 2013).

Australians often travel to countries with less restrictive regulations for commercial surrogacy due to strict domestic laws, which allow only altruistic surrogacy. A notable example of ethical and legal concerns resulting of this practice is the 2014 Baby Gammy case, where an Australian couple entered into a commercial surrogacy arrangement in Thailand. The surrogate mother gave birth to twins—one healthy baby girl and a boy, Gammy, who had Down syndrome. The couple took the healthy child back to Australia but left Gammy behind with the surrogate mother, which raised contentious ethical challenges about selective parenting based on disability, the exploitation of vulnerable women, and the rights of the child, especially concerning his future and access to his genetic history. Legal complications arose as Thailand's surrogacy laws were unclear and not well-enforced, and the Australian couple faced widespread criticism for abandoning Gammy. The case ultimately led to changes in Thailand's surrogacy laws, including a ban on foreign commercial surrogacy arrangements, highlighting the urgent need for clearer and more ethical regulation of international surrogacy.

Box. 6.3. Commercial international surrogacy: The case of Baby Gammy

In Thailand, salaries of medical doctors in private hospitals are reportedly between six and eleven times greater than what are offered by public institutions. Only from one hospital in Bangkok's 70 medical specialists, between 2005 and 2010, migrated to private hospitals that serve foreign patients. Medical practitioners who have moved from the public to the private sector tend to be those with the most experience.

Box.6.4. Internal migration of HCWs as a consequence of medical tourism: experience of Thailand (Wibulpolprasert and Pachanee, 2008)

6.3. Mechanisms for global coordination and governance

WHO has an important role in recognizing the plurality of ethical issues in clinical care that can arise in any context. The international coordination of ethical guidance for the clinical context must consider cases in relation to their contexts, building sensitivity to include different knowledge systems, understandings and practices. Ethical deliberation and action include the task of identifying the individual and the collective, with recognition of multiple and varied intersections and how interdependencies interact with what is being deliberated. The reciprocal coexistence of the individual and the collective must be at the center of the deliberations, without the negation of one or the other (Butler, 2022). Therefore, the recommendation for international coordination for clinical ethics guidance is centered in understanding, respecting and protecting the individual, without invalidating or jeopardizing the relations with the collective. It can be argued that deliberations and actions that are not centered on the singularity of the individual collective have the potential to threaten both. It is also possible that such actions may not effectively or ethically address the issues that impact health decisions. This is due to the inseparable relation between the two.

The impacts of clinical ethics reach beyond the domain of medicine. Consequently, a contextualized understanding of this matter should be reflected in how networks and guidelines are constructed and coordinated on an international scale. It is important that the health center and the medical authorities are not perceived nor created as isolated, hierarchical entities engaged in deliberations and decision-making processes, but rather collective forms. It is necessary to involve a diverse range of societal categories in order to address the relations and impacts associated with clinical ethics.

To achieve effective international coordination of clinical ethics, it is necessary to implement a contextualized approach that facilitates the co-creation of non-linear, non-hierarchical flows and the exchange of information. Contextualization encompasses the expansion and de facto inclusion of all sorts of healthcare workers and other categories involved in care. Any form of colonization in international relations related to clinical ethics consultation should be avoided. Instead, the guidance should advocate for respecting singularities and contextual nuances and fostering equitable partnerships based on respecting a people's history, so that complementary, non-universalizing relations that welcomes alterity/otherness can be created and maintained (Segato, 2021).

It is essential that representatives of a diverse range of healthcare workers, along with relevant community members, such as educators, representatives of community-led associations and patient advocacy groups, social workers, physical therapists, and psychologists be part of the processes and deliberations regarding clinical ethics. The contextualization of clinical ethics discussions would entail providing support, based on the community's assessment of necessity, in the formation of local and regional working groups for issues deemed most pertinent to them at a given time. The creation of non-linear, non-hierarchical flows and exchanges of information would facilitate the rapid and pertinent dissemination of information, thereby enabling the development of guidelines that are context-specific and responsive to the needs of those most affected by the clinical practice.

The World Health Organization can initiate the development of innovative programs based on principles for international coordination of clinical ethics, beginning with its central and regional chapters. To develop a more just, effective, timely and appropriate approach to preparing and responding to the emerging and reemerging clinical ethics issues, it is fundamental to build on local resources, technologies, and knowledge. WHO could also stimulate the creation of partnerships between CECs in different parts of the world. This could include the possibility of tele-consultations, leveraging platforms for cross-border collaboration and knowledge exchange. In spite of the contextualized approach that we favor it is also fair to say that there are a lot of commonalities in the way dilemmas appear in the delivery of health care.

Universal health coverage (UHC) is an essential target set as a Sustainable Development (SGDs). WHO's commitment to UHC was reaffirmed in 2019 and global analysis of the COVID-19 pandemic further substantiates WHO recommendation towards UHC with a reorientation towards primary health care (PHC) approach as a foundation and a mechanism to achieve it (World Health Organization, 2025b). Clinical ethics international coordination and governance should follow along UHC the pathways and frameworks. This is an important mechanism for integration of clinical ethics in multilevel, interdependent and interlinked health systems, locally, regionally and internationally. This can aid and support the progress towards UHC and create pathways for local, regional and international exchanges in clinical ethics that is inherently linked to the context and emerge from people's need.

The foundational documents that should inform the development of new treaties, binding and non-binding documents and guidelines include the Human Rights Declaration, the World Medical Association (WMA) International Code of Medical Ethics, the WMA Declaration of Geneva, the World Health Organization Constitution, the International Health Regulations (2005) (IRH) and its new amendments and other related internationally binding declarations involving member states. Country specific regulations and protocols could serve as inspiration for other countries.

It is important to see that most of the output generated by these fora for reflection are not legally binding. Declarations, recommendations, guides and resolutions are non-binding documents, and thus, cannot be enforced by court of law. What they do produce, however, are propositions about what can count as a reasonable way forward, or a reasonable response to dilemmas in the clinical encounter. Indirectly, these documents may be very influential, as per the commitment of being a member state. Governments can integrate them into existing laws or use them to create national laws. National professional organizations may use them to write guidelines on which judges (perhaps in disciplinary cases) may base their rulings. These documents are an important instrument to foment the different functions of the state to guarantee health and ethical care.

The International Alliance of Patient Organizations for example has created, with the International Council of Nurses (ICN), International Federation of Pharmaceutical Manufacturers and Associations (IFPMA), International Pharmaceutical Federation (FIP), and the World Medical Association (WMA) a Consensus Framework for Ethical Collaboration to support partnerships that will aim to deliver greater patient benefits and support high-quality patient care. Within the bodies the UN network, we can point at UNESCO, specifically UNESCO's International Bioethics Committee (IBC) and the Global Ethics Observatory (GEObs) UNESCO has developed several key documents to guide the establishment and operation of ethics committees and build a database of global bioethics issues that is freely accessible. These resources can be used to collaborate with local and regional representations. The Universal Declaration on Bioethics and Human Rights (2005) advocates for the creation of independent, multidisciplinary, and pluralistic ethics committees at various levels to advise policymakers and encourage public debate on bioethical issues. The Assisting Bioethics Committees (ABC) Project provides practical guidance for setting up and strengthening ethics committees, particularly in countries with limited resources. Additionally, the International Bioethics Committee (IBC), comprising 36 independent experts, monitors progress in life sciences to ensure respect for human dignity and freedom. These resources collectively support the development of effective ethics committees worldwide.

As noted, several international institutions, organizations and networks that deal with issues related to clinical care, ethics and bioethics exist and can be part of a collateral/multilateral system of information exchange and collaboration. Attention must be also directed towards reframing how relations are constructed allowing for a resocialization of the understanding of "who becomes sick and why, and of who has access to health care and why" (Farmer, 2004), being aware of the complexity and history of the coloniality of power. Reframing how international organs interact with local realities is an important step towards building a future relationship that allows for co-creation, collaboration and more equitable exchange. International governance and cooperation of clinical ethics should build upon the co-creation and achievement of multilateral agreements.

References

- Butler, J., 2022. What world is this? A pandemic phenomenology. Columbia University Press.
- Chen, Y.B., Flood, C.M., 2013. Medical tourism's impact on health care equity and access in low-and middle-income countries: making the case for regulation. Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics 41, 286–300.
- Farmer, P., 2004a. Pathologies of power: Health, human rights, and the new war on the poor. Univ of California Press.
- Farmer, P., 2004b. Pathologies of power: Health, human rights, and the new war on the poor. Univ of California Press.
- Martin, D.E., Van Assche, K., Domínguez-Gil, B., López-Fraga, M., Gallont, R.G., Muller, E., Rondeau, E., Capron, A.M., 2019. A new edition of the Declaration of Istanbul: updated guidance to combat organ trafficking and transplant tourism worldwide. Kidney international 95, 757–759.
- Minerva, F., Savulescu, J., Singer, P., 2019. The ethics of the global kidney exchange programme. The Lancet 394, 1775–1778.
- Segato, R., 2021. Crítica da colonialidade em oito ensaios: e uma antropologia por demanda. Bazar do tempo.
- WHO Expert Advisory Committee on Developing Global Standards for Governance and Oversight of Human Genome Editing. Human Genome Editing: A Framework for Governance, 1st ed. ed, 2021. World Health Organization, Geneva.
- Wibulpolprasert, S., Pachanee, C.-A., 2008. Addressing the internal brain drain of medical doctors in Thailand: the story and lesson learned. Global Social Policy 8, 12–15.
- World Health Organization, 2025a. Emergency use of unproven clinical interventions outside clinical trials: ethical considerations [WWW Document]. URL https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240041745 (accessed 5.22.25).
- World Health Organization, 2025b. Universal health coverage (UHC) [WWW Document]. URL https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/universal-health-coverage-(uhc) (accessed 5.22.25).
- World Health Organization, 2023. WHO tool for benchmarking ethics oversight of health-related research involving human participants [WWW Document]. URL https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240076426 (accessed 5.22.25).
- World Health Organization, 2021a. HUMAN GENOME EDITING: A FRAMEWORK FOR GOVERNANCE.
- World Health Organization, 2021b. WHO Global Benchmarking Tool (GBT) for Evaluation of National Regulatory System of Medical Products Revision VI [WWW Document]. URL https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240020245 (accessed 5.22.25).
- World Health Organization, 2019. WHO expert advisory committee on developing global standards for governance and oversight of human genome editing: report of the second meeting [WWW Document]. URL https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/WHO-SCI-RFH-2019-02 (accessed 5.22.25).
- World Health Organization, 2004. Ethics, access and safety in tissue and organ transplantation: Issues of global concern, Madrid, Spain, 6-9 October 2003 [WWW Document]. URL https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9241591390 (accessed 5.22.25).

